WATER SERVICES DELIVERY IN MUKONDENI VILLAGE IN LIMPOPO PROVINCE, SOUTH AFRICA

NETSHIPALE LIDZANI LUCAS

MINI-DISSERTATION

Submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of

MASTER OF DEVELOPMENT STUDIES

in

CURRICULUM STUDIES

in the

FACULTY OF MANAGEMENT AND LAW (TURFLOOP GRADUATE SCHOOL OF LEADERSHIP)

at the

UNIVERSITY OF LIMPOPO

SUPERVISOR: DR. S.A. RANKOANA

DECLARATION

I, <u>Lidzani Lucas Netshipale</u>, declare that the study, Water Service Delivery in Mukondeni Village of Mutale Local Municipality, Vhembe District, Limpopo Province is my own work and that all the sources that I have used or quoted have been indicated and acknowledged by means of complete reference and that this work has not been submitted before to any other institution.

Lidzani Lucas Netshipale

Date

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

It is a pleasure to thank the many wonderful people who made this mini-dissertation possible:

- The Mutale Local Municipality and its officials for participating and giving me permission for the study to be carried out. The researcher also thanks the residents of Mukondeni for their active participation in the study. I would also like to thank Vhembe District Municipality's Water Services Department's senior officials, Mr M. R. Bidzhiwe and Mr A. P. Mavhungu, for their assistance during the data collection phase.
- My Mother, Mrs Azwidihwi Munzhedzi Netshipale, and My lovely daughter, Antoinette Tshedza Netshipale, for being the pillar of my strength. Her enthusiasm, relentless encouragement and the moral support kept me focused.
- Dr S. A. Rankoana, my supervisor, for her inspiration, guidance, support and encouragement as well as my editor Dr Lukas Mkuti.
- Advocate F. A. Ponelis (Former-Faculty Acting Executive Dean), Professor J.
 P. Tsheola (Executive Dean), Professor M. P. Sebola, Mr O. A. Oni and Mr L.
 L. Lebelo for their support and encouragement.
- Prof M. M. Sibara (Deputy Vice-Chancellor) and Mrs T. R. Mawasha (Secretary) for their support and encouragement.

ABSTRACT

The provision of basic water services delivery to all South African citizens is one of the biggest challenges of many local municipalities. The objective of this study was to explore water services delivery in the communities of Mukondeni village in Limpopo Province. The Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF) has the responsibility to ensure that all South Africans have access to basic water supply and emphasizes on speedy delivery of water and sanitation services. The Department of Water Affairs (DWA) is mandated with managing and protecting the country's water resources, with the National Regulator responsible for systems of accountability.

The study evaluated the respondents of the communities, authorities responsible in water services delivery and the nature of the resources in water supply. The outcome of the study shows that, the communities and water services department (workers) were dissatisfied with the current water services delivery. Direct involvement, coordination and co-operation by the government, as well as developing a culture of empowering the local communities should bring better water services delivery to the village and to Mutale Local Municipality in general. The study recommends that one main pipeline from the plant to Mukondeni village should be installed and awareness campaigns for efficient and effective use of water should be launched. This should help ease and improve the present precarious situation.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	. 1
1.1 Background of the study	. 1
1.2 Definition of concepts	. 3
1.3 Problem statement	. 3
1.4 Rationale of the study	. 4
1.5 Significance of the study	. 5
1.6 Study purpose	. 6
1.6.1 Aim of the study	. 6
1.6.2 Objectives of the study	. 6
1.6.3 Research Questions	. 6
1.7 Organization of the study	. 6
CHAPTER 2-1 ITERATURE REVIEW	7
2 1 Introduction	. /
2.2 The authorities responsible for water services delivery	۰,
2.2.1 Fiscal instruments on water scarcity consumption	. J 10
2.2.2 Water security and scarcity	10
2.3 The authorities' effectiveness on water delivery	11
2.3 The use of quality water for domestic purposes	11
2.3.2 Household productive uses of domestic water	12
2.3.3 Quantity in health-based surveillance programmes	13
2.3.4 Minimum requirements for all hygiene needs	14
2.3.5 Shortage of staff in water services delivery	17
2.3.6 Water service delivery in local villages	17
2.4 Types and status of water supply resources available in the village	18
2.5 Challenges experienced by authorities in water supply in the villages	20
2.5 1 Payment for water	22
2.5.2 Privatization and access to water by the poor	23
2.5.3 Community protest in water services delivery	23
2.5.4 Socioeconomic conditions and geographical locations of the villages	24
2.6. Conclusion	24
CHAPTER 3: RESEARCH METHODOLOGY	25
	25
3.2 Study Area	25
3.3. Research methodology	27
3.3.1 Research design	28
3.3.2 Population of the study	28
3.3.3 Sampling method	29
3.3.4 Data Collection method and analysis	29
3.5 Conclusion	30
CHAPTER 4: STUDY RESULTS	31
4.1 Introduction	31
4.2 Demographical information	31
4.2.1 Gender of the study sample	31
4.2.2 Respondents' occupation	32
4.2.3 Education level of the respondents	32

4.2.4 Age of the respondents	33
4.2.5 Marital status of the respondent	34
4.2.6 Full-time or permanent resident of Mukondeni	35
4.2.7 Respodents' family size	35
4.2.8 Source of water of the villager	36
4.3. Theme 1: Responsibility of water services delivery in Mukondeni village	38
4.3.1 Responsible workers	39
4.3.2 Water supply	39
4.4 Theme 2: The competency of the authority in making water resource availab the village	ole to 39
4.4.1 Water resource planning	39
4.4.2 Water complaints	39
4.4.3 Maintenance of pipelines and service delivery satisfaction	39
4.5 Theme 3: The types and status of water supply resources available in the vi	llage 40
4.5.1 Types of water services	40
4.5.2 Water supply pattern	40
4.5.3 Improving water supply	41
4.6 Challenges or problems experienced by the authority in ensuring consi	stent
water supply to the village	41
4.6.1 Problem faced	41
4.6.2 Addressing problems	41
4.6.3 Role of villagers	42
4.7 Ethical Considerations	42
4.8 Conclusion	42
CHARTER & DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	40
CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS	43
5.1 Discussion	43 42
5.1.1 Demography	43
5.1.2 Comparison of occupation and ago of the respondents	44 11
5.1.3 Comparison of occupation and age of the respondents	44 Ilogo
5.1.4 The autionities responsible for water services delivery in the Mukondeni vi	naye 15
5.1.5 The offectiveness distribution of water by the authority in the village	4J
5.1.5 The ellectiveness distribution of water by the adtributy in the village	45 //6
5.1.7 The challenges experienced by the municipality authorities and water seri	
department regarding consistent water supply to the village	16
5.2 Conclusion	+0
5.3 Recommendations	48
5.3.1 Reallocation of the water services department	48
5.3.2 Awareness campaigns	48
5.3.3 One main pipeline from the plant to the villagers	
5.3.4 Adopt a business model for water services delivery	49
5.4 Overview of research findings	
5.5 Areas for further research	50
REFERENCES	51

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Service level descriptors of water in relation to hygiene

Table 2: Population size per Wards in Mutale Local Municipality

Table 3. Marital status of the respondents

Table 4. Respondents - permanent and non-permanent residents

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Gender of the respondents per household

Figure 2: Respondents' occupation

Figure 3. Respondents' education level

Figure 4. The age categories of the respondents

Figure 5. The period of staying in the village of the respondents

Figure 6. The numbers of family members of the respondents

Figure 7. The main source of water supply in the village

Figure 8. An alternative source of water supply in the village

LIST OF PICTURES

Picture 1. The villagers of Mukondeni travelling to Mangaya village in a hired car to fetch water from the main water source

Picture 2. The villagers of Mukondeni travelling to Maheni village in a hired car to fetch water from the main water source

Picture 3. Pipelines maintenance in Mukondeni village

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background of the study

South Africa's water related challenges for sustainable development are compounded by its historical past and water scarcity. The biggest challenge regarding water and development in the country is the provision of basic water services to all and in particular the poor. The provision of services to the poor is however only one of the challenges for sustainable development in the water industry. Other challenges relate to the high level of non-revenue demand, weak institutional capacity of the water services industry, and the economic viability of service provision, environmental degradation of water resources and the availability of sufficient water resources. In Vhembe District Municipality, Mutale Local Municipality is one of the poor municipalities where households are dependent on river water for domestic and agricultural purposes.

Water is the lifeblood of the planet that links all people together. Except during floods and droughts, the importance of water in the daily lives of people is sometimes ignored. For generations, many privileged South Africans merely relied on tap water (Palmer & Eberhard, 1994; Lotter, 1995). Water Supply and Sanitation Policy (World Water Assessment Programme, 2003) described by the White Paper (World Health Organization's Guidelines for Drinking Water Quality, 2012) is the basis of quantity, cartage, and availability, assurance of supply, quality and upgradability (Republic of South Africa, 1994).

Basic water supply in terms of the Water Services Act, 1997 (Act 108 of 1997) means the prescribed minimum standard of water supply services necessary for the reliable supply of a sufficient quantity and quality of water to households, including informal households to support life and personal hygiene. According to Harvey and Reed (2004), during the last decade, South Africa has achieved mixed success on the provision of safe water supply and sanitation to rural communities. At the household and school level there are concerns about the quality and use of these water and sanitation facilities. A study conducted by the Water Research Commission in 2002 indicated that rural areas suffered massive backlogs regarding the provision of adequate sanitation.

South Africa has undergone immense social and economic changes over the last years, following the abolition of apartheid and a fundamental Reconstruction and Development Programme (RDP) aimed at creating a more open and development oriented society. These reforms have led to the introduction of bulk water projects at all spheres of government.

The post-apartheid government instituted the RDP as the policy foundation stone of the new government. The RDP gave the Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF) the responsibility of ensuring universal access to basic water for all South Africans. Subsequently, the White Paper on Water and Sanitation was released in 1994, with emphasis on speedy delivery of water and sanitation services to ensure that all South Africans have access to basic water supply (DWAF, 2004). The South African Water Sector Institutional landscape strives to provide running tap water and electricity to rural communities by 2025 (Claassen et al., 2013). Water supply in South Africa is characterized by both achievements and challenges with concern mostly in the rural areas of Limpopo Province (Water Supply & Sanitation in South Africa; 2013). Black African households were found to be more likely to lack access to basic services such as housing, water, sanitation and electricity (Hirschowitz & Okin, 1997).

The management of water is not the responsibility of the municipality, national and provincial water resources management department, consumers or any individual but of all those who derive goods and services from it. Water is interlinked with, and cannot be isolated from, economic and social development as outlined in the Millennium Development Goals and not forgetting its role in maintaining the ecological integrity of the water resources. Government is required by law to ensure that everyone has access to water and the municipalities play an important role in ensuring that this constitutional right is realised. That places enormous pressure on the water services authorities to ensure that they provide water services and maintain the system in a reliable condition. In addition, post 1994 there were vast areas of our communities which were still subserviced, in terms of water services. The implications of this on the scarce water resources is quite colossal, especially if

the legal requirement of having the ecosystem protected by reserving for it sufficient water of adequate quality is taken into consideration (Kidd, 2011).

The problems of water service delivery in rural communities are a continuous concern which has, in many instances, led to protests and acts of vandalism to property. Building of dams, drilling of boreholes and installation of supply pipes have contributed to water supply in the country. The present study explored the current water service delivery in Mukondeni village. The study engaged the authorities responsible for water supply in order to find out the challenges that communities face, types, status and sustainability of water resources in the community.

1.2 Definition of concepts

Water: an essential clear, pellucid, transparent fluid which is used as an everyday item and it is available in streams, lakes, oceans and rain is the major constituent of the fluids. Water is crucial for human life and all living things. For human beings it is needed for drinking, washing, cooking, planting and a number of essential activities. According to the World Health Organisation (2006), water is one of the important natural resources and is the essence of life on the earth.

Water authority: Water Management Department ensuring that there is an efficient supply of water to the parties or by any municipality that has the executive authority to provide water services within its area of jurisdiction roles and responsibilities.

Water law: The legal status of water, water rights, and conflict solution mechanisms, possible contradictions between laws, legal pluralism, administrative regulations, and implementation mechanisms.

Water policy: This covers usage priorities, water tariffs, decentralization or centralization of competencies, participation, and coordination with other policies.

Water administration: The organizational structure of water management, including funding, staff, capacities, and fee collection (Saleth & Dinar, 1999).

1.3 Problem statement

Who are the authorities responsible for water supply in Mukondeni village? Which water resources supply the village with water and what is their status? Vhembe District is responsible for providing clean water to the Mutale Local Municipality as mandated by Water Service Authority of Limpopo Province. Mutale Local

Municipality is the water authority. It is the responsibility of the municipality to supply water to all the communities and villages that fall under its jurisdiction. The survey reveals that the municipality is not satisfying all its communities in terms of water services delivery. Significant problems and challenges include incompetent staff, financial sustainability of service providers and the lack of service providers and the problems of proper maintenance and sustainability of water resources (Wellfield, 2011).

The provision of adequate water to the communities remains a challenge as a result of poor municipal infrastructure. Other factors include the South African Government policy of providing and sustaining water supply as free basic needs; the financial stability of service providers which lead to the lack of maintenance and payment of the water services by community members; the existence of water boards which is controlled by supplying and lack of cost recovery for water services process which includes insufficient monitoring of meters system and control over the communal street stand pipes by communities. The majority of the households in Mutale Municipality use boreholes and these create health risks because the underground river water is not clean. The access to water as a basic necessity to life can have profound effects on health and the inaccessibility of water to the households can lead to community members buying water or incurring economic costs in fetching or collecting water from communal supplies or nearest villages.

1.4 Rationale of the study

The majority of social protests associated with water service delivery tend to occur in communities as characterized by high levels of poverty, unemployment, inequality, relative deprivation, marginalization and disjuncture (including communication breakdown) between water services development planning at municipal and national levels and water use at local household and community levels, irrespective of the political party affiliation of local government. Such disjuncture can predispose people in affected localities towards protest action. They are often multi-faceted and include, among other things, differences in perception between what practitioners consider to be effective ways of rendering water services and what water services users consider as their legitimate needs and expectations. Residents expressed frustrations over unmet expectations for water services, lack of downward

accountability by municipal officials, indifference and lack of monitoring and censure of non-compliance by water services authorities and officials.

Mutale Local Municipality is a drought-stricken area located in Vhembe District Municipality. Lack of water for household consumption, livestock and farming has been a major concern for the communities in Mutale for a very long time. A study commissioned by the World Bank in 2010 and 2011 concludes that water service delivery in Mutale is rather poor. Some of the reasons for this is lack of competent staff, poor maintenance of water resources and misuse of water resources by the communities. The municipality has challenges in the recruitment of staff and infrastructure to maintain water resources (Wellfield, 2011). The present study was designed to explore water service delivery in Mukondeni community in Mutale Local Municipal area. The study examined water service delivery in the community and the measures available to ensure consistent water supply.

1.5 Significance of the study

Water supply in Vhembe District Municipality is an ongoing problem as a result of poor maintenance of water resources and incompetent staff. This ongoing problem has been in existence despite the existence of Albasin and Nandoni reservoirs which supply the entire district with water. An outline of water service delivery in Mukondeni village was helpful in determining the person or people responsible for water service delivery, the types and status of water resources and factors responsible for inconsistence supply of water in the community. The outcomes of the proposed study will be helpful in addressing the problems related to the provision of water outlined during a study commissioned by the World Bank (2010) in Mutale Local Municipality. The study results reflected incompetent staff, lack of maintenance of water resources and misuse of the resources by the community as the main causes of inconsistent water supply in the communities supplied by Mutale Local Municipality (Wellfield, 2011). The study will be helpful to the wider community in that it will identify the kind of challenges facing the provision of water. Limpopo Province could establish the major causes of poor water services delivery and draw lessons from them.

Given the emphasis of water supply as a path to development, the study on the water services delivery in Mukondeni village in Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe district municipality of the Limpopo would be useful to policy makers. A study focusing on an individual village is necessary in order to account for all the factors that are unique to the village. Therefore, the study will help to shift the focus of the municipality to better water service delivery. This can be achieved by better understanding of the socio-economic factors that are a result of poor service delivery. In South Africa much work has been done to study the notion of water supply, comparatively, yet little has been done to analyse water service delivery.

1.6 Study purpose

1.6.1 Aim

The aim of the study is to explore water service delivery in Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe District located in Limpopo Province.

1.6.2 Objectives

The study was conducted to investigate the body responsible for water services delivery in Mukondeni village, Mutale Local Municipality. A description of the types and status of water resources available in the village is provided. Furthermore, the study explains the effectiveness of the local authorities in making water available to the village, and presents the problems experienced by the authority in ensuring consistent water supply to the village.

1.6.3 Research Questions

- Who is responsible for providing water to Mukondeni village?
- What type of water resources supply the village?
- What problems does the village have in the area of water supply?
- What are the problems experienced by the authority responsible for water supply in the village?

1.7 Organization of the study

The study is presented in five chapters. Chapter two presents the literature review and the implications from that review. Chapter three presents the research methods employed in the study. Chapter four discusses the study findings and chapter five presents discussion of the study findings, conclusion and recommendations.

CHAPTER 2 LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Introduction

Water is a basic nutrient of the human body and is critical to human life. It supports the digestion of food, absorption, transportation and use of nutrients and the elimination of toxins and wastes from the body (Kleiner, 1999). Water is also essential for the preparation of food. The human body requires a minimum intake of water in order to be able to sustain life before mild and then severe dehydration occurs. The quantity of water delivered and used in the households is an important aspect of domestic water supplies, which influences hygiene and therefore public health. To date, the World health Organisation (WHO) has not provided guidance on the quantity of domestic water that is required to promote good health (Howard & Bartram, 2013). Access to water is basic to life and is recognized as a fundamental human right which demands sufficient healthy human life and safe water. In South African law and policy, basic water supply must be sufficient, safe, accessible and affordable. Basic water must also be provided continuously with a stipulated minimum rate of flow and quality (Hemson & Galvin, 2006)

According to the South African Municipal Systems Act of 2000, the Integrated Development Plan (IDP) is a process in which a municipality and other local role players compile a blue print that outlines how services will be delivered to the community and makes the provision that should be reviewed annually. Integrated development is a five-year strategic document that informs all the planning in the local municipality (Mutale Final Integrated Development Plan [IDP] Review, 2013/14).

This chapter presents an overview of water service delivery in Mutale Local Municipalities. Mutale Municipality has set its focus on addressing the needs of its communities in the rural villages in order to improve and transform their socio-economic conditions. Its priorities and target goals in economic and infrastructure cluster are to decrease the number of people without sustainable access to safe drinking water by 2015. An integrated development plan identified the key priority issues, objectives, strategies, programmes and projects to respond to the institutional and socio-economic challenges facing the municipality (Mutale IDP,

2013/14). The programmes and projects which are set in the IDP will enable the municipality to pass the next hurdle of development. The developmental plan goals of Mutale Municipality can be achievable in conjunction with stakeholders, traditional leaders, community based organizations, as well as other organs of the state (Mutale IDP, 2013/14).

The operational sustainability of rural water-supply systems is discussed in this section. The Department of Drinking Water Supply and Sewerage (DDWSS), with the assistance of the United Nations Children's Fund and bilateral aid organizations, developed a blueprint that is often used by government organizations and NGOs for project implementation. The analysis shows no significant association between satisfaction and respondent variables such as gender, age, economic status and education. The principal component analysis shows that water quantity, reliability, Water Use Centre trust-worthiness, convenience of water-point locations, water quality, and water-flow pressure are the most crucial and correlated variables in the performance of water-supply systems.

The section also indicates that users' preferences differ between rural villages and market centres, regarding the improvement of existing systems. The water users in market centres strongly prefer water quantity, adequate flow pressure and convenient water-point locations. Water engineers and planners should consider the need in rural villages of high priority operation and maintenance management, convenient water point locations and reliability. This will assist in proper designing and planning of rural water supply programmes.

Available literature addresses the contribution and maintenance of domestic use of water and sanitation, fiscal policy and instruments on water scarcity consumption, types and status of water supply resources available in agriculture production as well as charges and payments of water services delivery and supply in South Africa and in municipalities in particular. It goes further to highlight the challenges and effectiveness of the water control authorities in the local municipalities, community protests related to water supply, the problem of unclean water and the poor socio-economic situation. There are a number of specific factors that the reviews of previous studies have been drawn into this study.

2.2 The authorities responsible for water services delivery

Empirical and theoretical literature on water shortage and supply in South Africa and municipalities are addressed. The study focuses on water shortage in South Africa, as well as in some African countries. It deals with the challenges of water shortage by looking at previous literature conducted on water shortage. Wester (2003) indicates that through using river basin management, government together with stakeholders can achieve equitable water management distribution in their communities.

Recent studies on service delivery and living conditions in South African households confirm that the focus is on water service delivery to poor households (Bhorat et al., 2008). The provision of safe and sufficient drinking water in South Africa relies on the availability of freshwater resources (Van Ginkel et al., 2001). In the rural areas, the majority of the population relies on raw water resources such as rivers; wells and ponds which are faecal contaminated and usually not treated. River water was found to be of poor microbiological quality and unsafe for human consumption (Obi et al., 2002). It remains the responsibility of water authorities to treat the water before it is consumed (Wester, 2003). An important consideration is the availability of the necessary social, economic and technical resources that are needed to treat the available water (Ohlsson, 1995; Turton & Haasbroek, 2001). The capability of a society depends on a high degree of human ingenuity and the ability to adapt strategies and tactics that will help to promote more effective and efficient use of water (Ashton et al., 2001). Watershed or catchment area alterations, such as dams that are built for water storage to increase the water supply and demand as the population grows are necessary (Ce van Ginkel, 2011). According to Countinho (2009), change in food consumption of the population and growth leads to increases in water demand.

Generally, there is increase in the capacity of water users domestically, and this influences decision making of basin water management in terms of reform. The importance of stakeholders in the management of drinking water supplies should be effective and efficient (BMC Public Health, 2012). The problems of drinking water supply system in a small village in the country are largely high. Much of the water supply infrastructure is out of operation and many villagers are forced to procure

private solutions. High poverty levels of the villagers make the local administration unable to maintain the infrastructure to provide a reliable water supply. This is caused by the unwillingness to pay the water fee with outstanding higher bills because for the rural communities, water is a free natural resource. It also increases the responsibility of all stakeholders to manage the local water supply system in their communities (Rost et al., 2015).

2.2.1 Fiscal instruments on water scarcity consumption

A historical transformation of water management depends in the time frame of the changes to the contemporary times, with different political, social and economic settings in the transformative capacity of institutions (Booysen, 2009). There are factors or characteristics which make it difficult to manage water; such as surface water management and ground water resources as it become variability of annual seasonal and multi-annual time frames; the use of water both as a public and private good and the action of one user which could have a serious contamination and supply implications for many other users (Hinsch, 2009).

2.2.2 Water security and scarcity

Water security and scarcity, water pricing and charging and economic growth have influence on water consumption. Some countries use instruments that set the limits on water use and can influence fiscal policy on water use, both direct and indirect (Casey, Carter & Yoe, 2012). There are various ways that governments choose to collect and spend money to collect revenue through a raft of taxation, charging and pricing mechanisms. It gives a range of expenditure, grant, subsidy and payment mechanisms as the way of collecting administrative costs from households and business (Young, 2015). South Africa is a chronically water stressed country with between 500 m³ and 1000 m³ of water available per person per year (Ashton, 2002). Surface water is heavily committed for use, water is imported from neighbouring countries, and the limited groundwater resources do not offer much reprieve (Scholes, 2001). As a result, water availability is predicted to be the single greatest and most urgent development constraint facing South Africa. The need for water is further highlighted by the fact that water scarcity in developing countries is closely linked to the prevalence of poverty, hunger and disease (Falkenmark, 1994; Ashton & Haasbroek, 2002).

The quantities of water collected can also depend on the factors such as supply reliability, which is dependent on family income level. Low-income families are likely to be at the greatest risk from poor water supply continuity. They have more limited resources and less ability to store large volumes of water at home; this leads to the use of smaller volumes of water and impaired hygiene (Koekemoer, 2009).

2.3 The authorities' effectiveness on water delivery

The development of a framework for water quality monitoring has been proposed based on a telecommunications infrastructure as government officials such as public officials, councillors and municipal officials use fiscal instruments for the country in order to limit water use. Mutale Local Municipality water services delivery has been registered in terms of Section 26 of the National Water Act (Act No. 36 of 1998) for the operation of water care works used for purification or treatment of water (Nemadodzi, 2012). Setting the price of water and regulating the law determine how much water should be consumed per person per litre daily. The pricing of water affects both the distribution of water among the various sectors and the quantity of water usage (Rost et al., 2015).

2.3.1The use of quality water for domestic purposes

The use of water for domestic purposes cannot easily be distinguished from productive use at the household level, particularly among poor urban communities. Domestic quality water use to sustain livelihoods among the poor forms an integral part of household coping strategies. Generally society needs quality water, as it refers to the state of the water in terms of its purity or level of contamination. Water quality impacts water availability. Water of poor quality is less suited to support socio-economic activities, which lead to scaling of pipes and infrastructure, interference with chemical processes and cause health risks (Ashton & Godfrey, 2014).

Industries usually depend on clean water to produce quality products in efficient processes, where poor water quality can lead to scaling of pipes and infrastructure, interference with chemical processes and cause health risks. Poor water quality also reduces options for domestic and recreational use. While human health is mostly affected by microbiological contamination due to inadequate sanitation, excessive

algal growth can lead to the production of toxins. Other impacts on human health from poor quality water include carcinogenic substances that can cause diseases such as cancer, cholera and diarrhoea (Ashton & Godfrey, 2007). Water resource quality is defined in the National Water Act (NWA, Act No. 36 of 1998) as the quality of all the aspects of a water resource, including in stream flow (quantity, pattern, timing, water level and assurance), water quality (physical, chemical and biological characteristics), in-stream and riparian habitat (character and condition) and aquatic biota (characteristics, condition and distribution). There may also be important health and social gains from ensuring adequate quality of service to support small-scale productive use, for example where this involves food production.

Access to water adequate for small-scale productive activity in such areas is therefore important as part of poverty alleviation and may deliver significant indirect health benefits as a result. Maximum health benefits are likely to be obtained by directing resources towards ensuring that all households have access to improved water sources, and in some circumstances in directly upgrading to access at the household level (generally through piped means) (Howard, 2003).There are also minimum requirements for domestic supply of water, which include adequate water for laundry and bathing. In some cases this will be done at the house and in other circumstances some or all of these activities may be carried out at the water source (river) rather than at the household. In both cases, it would be expected that if an improved source is used, this should provide adequate quantities of water to meet these demands. Where the source is an improved communal source whether laundering occurs at the household expected in urban areas (Howard & Pond, 2012).

2.3.2 Household productive uses of domestic water

The productive uses of domestic water at the household level include brewing, smallscale food production and household construction in low-income areas. Poor quality irrigation water can affect crop growth and reduce yields or lead to increased salt loads in soils, which renders them less productive (Ashton & Godfrey, 2014). Community-level enterprises that use water resources in income generating activities, such as irrigation systems (beyond simple use of water by a household for gardening), industry, larger commercial entities, energy production and transport

must be considered. The use of water resources in the economic activities or production greatly exceeds the use for domestic supply, but may compromise the ability of the resource to meet basic needs either through over-consumption or through uses leading to quality deterioration (Howard & Bartram, 2013).

There will be an increase in the productive uses of water, particular value for lowincome households and communities through health and well-being benefits (Thompson et al., 2001). Direct health benefits are derived as water improves the nutrition and food security from garden crops that have been watered. Indirect health benefits arise from improvements in household wealth from productive activity. In urban areas, this often is essential for low-income communities to meet nutritional requirements and may offer additional income from small-scale sales (Howard & Bartram, 2013). Amenity uses of water are not typically considered in relation to health aspects of water quantity. These include lawn-watering and car washing, although in some cases the latter would be more correctly categorized as productive uses of water as it may be used to provide an income. There are some benefits of purely amenity uses of water in terms of quality of life. However, particularly for the most vulnerable, amenity use of water is likely to be limited. The principal concern in relation to amenity uses of domestic water supplies is to reduce the consumption of water for these purposes when this may place a significant demand on the water supply such that universal basic access is compromised (Stephens, 1996).

2.3.3 Quantity in health-based surveillance programmes

The role of the health sector in promoting better water supplies to maximize health gains should be to advocate for those interventions that will deliver the greatest improvements in health. A key component of this role is the regular surveillance of water supplies in order to assess progress with meeting targets consistent with stated public health goals and to identify priority areas for intervention. WHO (1993) defines surveillance as "the continuous and vigilant oversight of drinking water supplies from a public health perspective".

Water quantity has traditionally been viewed as forming a key indicator for such surveillance programmes, alongside measures of quality, cost, continuity and coverage (Howard, & Pond, (2012).Elsewhere it has been suggested that service level may be more appropriate (Bartram, 1999).

2.3.4 Minimum requirements for all hygiene needs

The evidence suggests that water quantities used by households are primarily dependent on access as determined by distance or time for collection. These differences are primarily seen as functioning at four levels, broadly equivalent to service level, shown in table 1 below. The estimated quantities of water at each level may reduce where water supplies are intermittent and the risks of ingress of contaminated water into domestic water supplies will increase.

Table 1: Service level descriptors of water in relation to hygiene (Howard,2003).

Service level	Distance/time measure	Likely quantities	Level of health concern
Description		collected	
No access	More than 1000m	Very low (often less	Very high as hygiene not
	or 30 minutes total	than 5 l/c/d).	assured and consumption needs
	collection time.		may be at risk. Quality difficult to
			assure; emphasis on effective
			use and water handling hygiene.
Basic access	Between 100 and	Low. Average is	Medium. Not all requirements
	1000m (5 to 30	unlikely to exceed	may be met. Quality difficult to
	minutes total	20 l/c/d; laundry	assure.
	Collection time).	and/or bathing may	
		occur at water source	
		with	
		additional volumes	
		of water.	
Intermediate	On-plot, (e.g.	Medium, likely to be	Low. Most basic hygiene and
Access	single tap in house	around 50 l/c/d,	consumption needs met.
	or yard).	higher volumes	Bathing and laundry possible
		unlikely as	on-site, which may increase
		energy/time	frequency of laundering. Issues
		requirements still	of effective use still important.
		significant.	Quality more readily assured.
Optimal	Water is piped into	Varies significantly	Very low. All uses can be met,
Access	the home through	but likely above 100	quality readily assured.
	multiple taps.	l/c/d and may be up	
		to 300l/c/d.	

These levels of access can also be interpreted in terms of household water security. The no access group effectively does not have household water security as the quantities collected are low; the effort taken to acquire water is excessive and quality cannot be assured. The group with basic access could be said to also have basic household water security, provided (reasonably) continuous and quality can be assured at source and protected during subsequent handling. The group with intermediate access can be said to have effective household water security as sufficient water is available to meet domestic needs and quality can be assured. This may be influenced by the degree of discontinuity within the supply, but it would be expected that household coping strategies would include bulk storage, which has been shown to be protective of health in Pakistan (Hoek et al., 2002). The group with optimal access also has optimal household water security with quantity, quality and continuity all likely to be adequate for domestic water needs.

Available evidence indicates that service level is more relevant to health than quantity of water and provides an indication of the volume of water that is available and used by households. The level of basic access is broadly equivalent to current definitions of minimum quantities of water required for health and intermediate access equivalent to quantity of water that Gleick (1996) argues is the basic water requirement. In relation to cost, the evidence available remains limited and contradictory, as does the evidence for relationships between reliability and quantity of water. However, it is likely that both will influence quantities of water collected in some settings, and therefore further research is required in this area.

Services level description suggests that health is significantly compromised at service levels described as no accesses in Table 1, where volumes collected may barely exceed the minimum for hydration. It suggest that of the global population estimated in 2000 of 6 billion people, around 1.1 billion are in a situation categorized as no accesses (Howard, 2003). Whilst significant health gains accrue to those 4.9 billion benefiting from basic access, significant health gains continue across categories intermediate access and optimal access. Approximately 2.8 billion of the global population presently have a household connection to a water supply, which covers both the category of intermediate and optimal access (Howard, 2003).

A minimum for basic health protection corresponds to basic access and experience shows that this is equivalent to a water collection of less than 20 l/c/d, of which about 7.5 litres is required for consumption. The effective use in hygiene practices of the limited water available at basic access service level is important if available health benefits are to accrue. The basic level of supply should be regarded as a minimum quantity of water and attention paid to increasing levels of service to yard level in order to increase volumes of water collected (Howard, 2003). Mutale Local Municipality is doing household connection, government building, and businesses and in any other agency that harness water. Water charges are for the sake of cost recovery, maintenance and operation. Water supply and sanitation systems are operated through a company or stakeholder and financed ultimately through user fees. With a subsidizing access to water, the government operates in a means tested subsidy scheme whereby qualifying poor households receive a subsidy administered from the municipalities. Under this arrangement, households can apply to have part of their water and sewage bill paid for them (Mutale IDP, 2013/14).

Increasing in a blockage tariff approach seems as a fair approach and it ensures that all have access to sufficient water for essential use. In effect, applicants are means tested and the scheme ensures that no more than 5% of household income is being spent on water. The water regulator is then left to set tariffs in a manner that sends clear economic signals about the value of water and the costs associated with supply and treatment. The resultant targeting of expenditure is much more efficient and much more equitable (Young, 2015). An approach of the hydraulic mission has not changed dramatically over the years, but it transformed various forms of control on water management. The benefit that may be derived on using design compact and highly efficient sensor systems by developing nations brings more in water supply saving and recycling (Katsriku et al., 2015). The introduction of water consumption and improvement of administrative costs, which are associated with complying with the general income taxation, borne by households and businesses, significantly reduce the cost of water use and pollution and production subsidies (Young, 2015). Because the villagers are poor, the local administration is unable to maintain the infrastructure and to provide a reliable water supply source. Water supply infrastructure is out of operation and force many villagers to set up private solutions

such as digging boreholes. This in turn causes their unwillingness to pay the water fee (Rost & Topbaev, 2015).

2.3.5 Shortage of staff in water services delivery

There are a number of factors which contribute to dysfunctional and improper water distribution, such as small number of water workers due to limited local municipalities' budget allocations. The World Bank report of 2008 identified some of the features that lead to debilitating performance in government sectors, which include the following: substantial under-staffing, especially at junior levels, lack of workforce planning; deterioration of real salaries or wages plus a high degree of wage compression; lack of morale or motivation on incentives problems; inability of major institutions involved in civil service management to provide policy guidance, direction, and supervision to sectorial or departmental units–defective managerial competence; over-centralization and over-concentration of powers and functions at the national level; poor physical work environment and poor facilities; logistical problems; excessive bureaucratization and red tape (e.g. promotions and appointments to key posts), and lack of political direction and commitment, leading to apathy and inertia and serious deficiencies in training institutions and programmes (ECA, 2010:51).

The supply of water and electricity for domestic or industrial use for consumers has to go through numerous bureaucratic channels before approval is given and in most cases, corrupt officials demand facilitation fees to hasten processes. In some cases, consumers abandon pursuit of these services in midstream, due to delays and other forms of bureaucratic insensitivities (Dalton et al., 2010).

2.3.6 Water service delivery in local villages

According to Alexander (2010) previous studies all sidestepped explicitly, engaging the role of service delivery in the protests aside from making references to such a relationship. Booysen (2007) shows that it is sometimes disputed whether there is a direct causal link between services deficits and protests. Atkinson (2007) and Marais et al. (2008) have provided some qualitative analyses on the causes of protests, and both studies report that inadequate service delivery is at the core of protest in South

Africa. Furthermore, investigations using quantitative methods as the link between service delivery and protests were advised to focus on these forms of relationships. Elsewhere though, particularly in the industrial democracies, many scholars have explored the causes of protest activity in varying levels of detail and produced a rich body of literature. In the developing countries, the literature has focused mostly on explaining the reasons for certain contentious events (Dalton et al., 2010). These literatures have emphasised the important role played by existing political and economic conditions in the generation of protest. Gurr (1970) emphasizes the role of relative deprivation as the key driver of protests. He argues that poverty, economic want and poor living conditions rouse feelings of resentment that are responsible for the protest generation. Gurr's theory has been subject to considerable critique, however. On the one hand, considerable deprivation has not always been followed by protest. Likewise, many protests, particularly in industrial democracies, show considerable association with privilege.

Although the resources model has been the subject of multiple reconfigurations, it largely retains currency and is generally more robust as an explanatory model for protest. It is important to note that the relative deprivation approach shows weak association with protest particularly in developed countries but performs better in low income countries (Dalton, 2010). The link between service delivery and protests has perhaps been overstated. Thompson and Nleya (2008) demonstrate that protests are associated with a number of other factors beyond service delivery; for example, multiple memberships of organizations operating both within and out of the local contexts, higher interpersonal trust, and higher trust in national institutions. The article is restricted to describing relationships emanating from service delivery as the starting point and culminating in protest.

2.4 Types and status of water supply resources available in the village

Water institutional reforms can address all types of water institutions: the water administration is restructured, competencies are reassigned, informal practices such as corruption are combated, laws are changed, and policy priorities are reformulated, etc. The main objectives of water institutional reforms as currently conducted in many countries are to make water institutions more market-oriented and democratic in order to reach more efficiency and equity. The main tools are the introduction of water fees or irrigation service fees (ISF), decentralization, and the introduction of hydrographic management principles and enhancement of user participation (Sehring, 2014).

A water supply system must at least have water available every day for the basic water needs of a household (Majuru et al., 2012). This means that it must be provided at a quantity per person per day at a decent yield of flow rate. This way people will have enough water and it is readily available when they need to access it. A study by Gleitsman et al. (2007) show that community members are not willing to pay for the use of hand pumps because the flow rate of water from the hand pumps is too low and it therefore takes too long to collect water from the pumps. Such an example illustrates the influence that flow rate can have on the time it takes to collect water. This flow rate and consequently the time it takes to fill a container can also have a bearing on the quantity of water collected. For instance, municipalities in South Africa have been known to use the drip which restricts the flow rate of water to prevent the use of water over and above the Free Basic Water amount for households that have not paid for overdue accounts (Peters & Oldfield, 2005).

Unauthorised connections, for instance connecting a hosepipe to a communal tap, are becoming an increasingly common sight in SCWS in South Africa. Seshoka et al. (2014) report on one village where 1,700 illegal connections were counted, the majority of which were being used to irrigate garden plots. The result of this will be that that while the 'connectors' have more than their share of water, the water pressure is lowered to such an extent that communal taps furthest from the reservoir run dry (Koekemoer, 2009). Drawn from the 2010 annual report by the Department of Water Affairs (DWA) in South Africa, 97% of the population had access to basic water supply infrastructure (Department of Water Affairs, 2010). Based on this figure, it would appear that by 2010, South Africa had already achieved the Millennium Development Goal target of halving the proportion of people without access to an improved water source by 2015. However, the report also suggested that this figure should be treated with caution, as the figures only reflect infrastructure provided and do not reflect quality of on-going service provision (Department of Water Affairs, 2010). The statement by DWA embodies the challenge of reliability that has come to characterize water supplies in developing countries. As noted by Guardiola et al.

(2010), the presence of water supply infrastructure does not always indicate that people have access to safe water, as these technologies do not always work. All too often, providing new water supply infrastructure takes precedence over ensuring continued access to water (Koestler et al., 2010).

A water service in this study is defined by three attributes: access, availability and portability. The reliability of a water supply service is generally defined as the proportion of time that the service functions to its prescribed level (Moriarty et al., 2010). Therefore a reliable service should deliver water of sound health-related quality (potable), that is physically obtainable with appropriate technology (e.g. tap) within a reasonable distance from the household (accessible), while being constantly obtainable at the source in quantities sufficient for daily household demand for domestic use, including personal hygiene availability. Whether water system upgrades are indeed improving access, availability and portability of water is questionable, given the problem of unreliability (Majuru et al., 2012).

Unreliability of water supply impacts on health, and the need for more investigation on the effects of unreliability should be emphasised (Hunter et al., 2o10; Majuru et al., 2012). It is along this vein that this study sought to assess whether upgrading water supply systems in two small rural communities in Limpopo Province improved water service attributes of access, availability and portability, in light of reliability challenges. In answering this question selected benchmarks of water supply have been applied from the WHO and Department of Water Affairs (DWA) — the former for minimum access, availability and portability, and the latter for enhanced access, availability and portability.

2.5 Challenges experienced by authorities in water supply

South Africa is one of the slower countries in the implementation process and struggles over the redistribution of water resources (Warnera, 2008). The key challenges which are addressed in the monitoring of water quality for rural communities in African countries include contemporary times frame, with different political, social and economic settings, water pricing and charging and free-water supply. The proposed framework may be extended to design compact and highly

efficient sensor systems in the villages and important areas of national economic growth (Abdullar & Rakhmatullaev, 2015).

The time frame of the analysis is from the Middle Ages to contemporary times, with different political, social and economic settings in the framework of theory of transformative capacity of institutions' emergence of telecommunications in the last decade and advances in the field of instrumentation. These advances have enabled many new applications to be developed in particular for remote monitoring of physical environment by sensors spatially distributed.

The study has highlighted the nature of the problems experienced at the household level as being closely inter-related. While the respondents indicated that the local authority should take the main responsibility for addressing the problems, the results have shown that small and localized solutions may well contribute to a reduction in the risks in the local environment to which the poor, in particular, are exposed. Despite the large discrepancies between the rich and the poor, there is a strong infrastructure maintained by a competent local authority which can provide the basis for improvements in access to basic services so as to maximize the health benefits of urban living. What would appear to be needed is an innovative and creative approach to these problems to be adopted by households, community groups, officials, primary health care officials and the local authority service providers? These would typically include changed service delivery practice, changed household behaviour and health education around a range of issues, including use and maintenance of sewerage systems, indoor air quality, and water storage.

The study has also highlighted the need for certain national policies to be amended so as to more directly incorporate health concerns. This includes both the importance of the environmental health officer as part of the primary health care team and the need to promote health as part of the ongoing investment in public infrastructure. There are also grounds for concern about the standards of water delivery and the technical specifications which are not optimally health promoting. There is a need for housing policy guidelines and building support and advice in order to enhance health. The incremental improvement of informal housing, so as to reduce indoor air pollution, dampness, extreme temperature fluctuations etc., all of

which increase the chances of acute respiratory infections, should be given more attention as a short-term intervention. Ultimately, better housing for all remains a priority but without interim interventions, many avoidable child deaths will occur.

2.5.1 Payment for water

The issue of payment for services has been a major problem for most local authorities in South Africa. In this study people were asked what they currently paid for services and, for those using communal supplies, what they would be willing to pay for water at their home (Zaki & Amin, 2009). The local authorities' municipalities provide different payment rates, which differ by the regions and water use sector. The majority of non-payment occurs in rural villages, where there are many of the poorest households. There are also a substantial number of middle and upper middle wealth quintile households who do not pay for their water (Bland et. al., 2010). Some of the poorest households are in rural informal housing (villages), where the collection of payments for water has recently been regarded as impractical, but most of the middle and upper-income non-payment households would be in formal housing where water is metered.

Non-payment among these relatively affluent households probably reflects the socalled 'culture of non-payment' or the expectation that government should provide basic services such as water free. In answer to the question about what people were willing to pay for water on site (for those currently using a communal supply) the majority (77%) were willing to pay, although many qualified this with statements referring to the quality of the service. With the availability of 'regular' and 'reliable' supplies in water services delivery the majority of residents confirm willingness to pay, albeit for 'adequate services'. Only 23% were unwilling to pay for their water, the majority was from the middle income group. Monthly payment amounts are acceptable and low considering the relatively low volumes of water currently being consumed by these residents.

Mutale Municipality and Vhembe District Municipality (VDM) provide free basic water and sanitation to all indigent households. Indigents are defined as those households who are unable to make a monetary contribution towards basic services, no matter how small the amounts seem to be, due to a number of factors. The district has

Basic Water and Sanitation Service Policy (BWSSP) to manage the provision of basic water to the indigent people. The free basic water is 6kl per month per household. Mutale Local Municipality invoices the district their monthly free basic water expenditure (Mutale IDP, 2013/14).

2.5.2 Privatization and access to water by the poor

According to Mutale Municipality IDP, the majority of the households use boreholes as sources of water; however, these create health risks due to underground water which is not clean (Mutale IDP, 2013/14). In spite of the global priority, the built-in advantage referred to earlier and major efforts by many governments, access to water supply is still limited to the upper and the middleclass urban and rural population in many developing countries. This deficiency for the urban poor in the countries, the majority of whom live in informal (slum) settlements, is worse due to inability of the poor to pay for the service (Budds & Mc Granahan, 2003) and to access the service due to their quasi-legal or illegal tenure (Harwood, 1997; Jaglin, 2002).

2.5.3 Community protest in water services delivery

The protest wave in poor areas that is generally recognized to have started in 2004 has been attributed to failures in service delivery (Alexander, 2010). Whereas the exact configuration of grievances has varied from protest to protest and community to community, invariably, issues linked to deficits in service delivery have featured prominently (Booysen, 2007; Marais et al., 2008). Other grievances have included dissatisfaction with local councils and administrations who are accused of being unresponsive to the needs of citizens with councillors in particular standing accused of among other things, corruption and nepotism (Atkinson, 2007; Booysen, 2007; Alexander, 2010). Household surveys focus on demand for water supply services as viewed from the perspective of the population using or lacking such services. In this way, they complement the information provided in Evaluation 2000 and contribute valuable data on inequalities in access to, use of and expenditures on water at the household level (Bittner & Tavares, 2010).

2.5.4 Socio-economic conditions and geographical locations of the villages

Water-supply programmes consist of three essential components: technology, people and institutions. The interface of these facets determines whether a particular scheme is sustainable. The maintenance and operation of water-supply systems in rural villages and rural market centres varies with the geographical locations and socioeconomic conditions as core-operation and maintenance problems for drinking water sustainability are immensely different (Department of Water Affairs & Forestry, 2006).

2.6. Conclusion

The chapter provides evidence that water service delivery is a worldwide challenge. Incompetent staff and lack of proper water infrastructure are major determinants of proper water service delivery.

CHAPTER 3 RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

3.1 Introduction

This chapter starts by describing the study area with its population and followed by an overview of the research method adopted for the study. It also goes further to describe the location of Mukondeni village, water service delivery in Mutale and analytical technique or approach used to analyse the questionnaires and interview guides for the variables that were considered in analysing the effect of water service delivery. It further elaborates on purposes of descriptive analysis and discriminant analysis presented subsequently. The categories for scoring are based on the interaction literature, specifically noting how water supply and service delivery interactions are conceptualized and measured within existing quantitative research. Water supply and service conflict scales incorporate items that represent water supply overlapping into service delivery.

3.2 Study Area

The present study was conducted in Mukondeni village, which is situated in the southern part of Mutale Local Municipality. It falls under Ward 4. It is a rural area which fully depends on primary sectors such as small-agricultural crop-plant, farming and small-scale development in market entrepreneurship. Mukondeni village is in Mutale Municipality within Vhembe District Municipality. Vhembe District Municipality is composed of four local municipalities i.e. Makhado, Musina, Mutale and Thulamela. Mutale Local Municipality covers 2 367.19 km² and its geographical location is: 22° 35′ S 30° 40′ E. The municipality is situated in the far north eastern corner of the district. Mutale Municipality shares its borders with Musina Local Municipality to the west and Thulamela Local Municipality to the south. The Municipality is accessed through R525 road linking the Kruger National Park to the other local four municipalities within Vhembe District. It can also be accessed through P277/1 linking Thohoyandou.

Mutale Local Municipality has a total population of 91 870 people in 13 wards (Stats SA; 2011). The large part of the population consists of the rural population between

the ages of 15 and 65 years and is mainly dominated by women. Most of the men migrated to seek employment opportunities outside Limpopo Province. Mukondeni village has about 200 dwelling units on a separate stand or yard and about 500 people (Mutale Local Municipality IDP, 2013/14).

According to StatsSA (2011), the total population growth of Mutale Municipality has increased by 9214 (11%) since 2001. This means that the households rose by 5700 from 2001 to 2011. This can also imply that the households are increasing albeit at a low rate. The households per ward in Mutale Municipality show that all the wards are dominated by tribal or traditional areas. The total number of households in Mutale Municipality according to census 2011 is 23 751.

The Table below shows the population size for Mutale Local Municipality per ward; the biggest population size in terms of statistics is Ward 5 with 9217 people. This Ward is on the periphery of the urban area. According to the 2011census, Ward 8 is the smallest with a population size of 5359. Ward 4 is the fifth lowest in population size with 6442 inhabitants.

93402001: Ward 1	6,535
93402002: Ward 2	6,994
93402003: Ward 3	7,380
93402004: Ward 4	6,442
93402005: Ward 5	9,217
93402006: Ward 6	6,206
93402007: Ward 7	6,405
93402008: Ward 8	5,359
93402009: Ward 9	8,133
93402010: Ward 10	6,064
93402011: Ward 11	8,430
93402012: Ward 12	8,311

Table 2: Population size per wards in Mutale Local Municipality Mutale: 9187

Mutale Local Municipality gets its water supply from Vhembe District Municipality (VDM), which is a Water Service Authority, and it is water service provider's responsibility to ensure that all the communities within the municipality are well supplied with clean bulk water resources (Mutale Local Municipality IDP, 2013/14). The development for this community means the improvement of their current standard of living with better services delivery. The IDP of Mutale Local Municipality provides clear guidelines for Mutale Municipality to:

(i) Introduce by-laws which guide the provisioning of water services in terms of the Water Services Act, 108 of 1997, and the relevant local government legislations such as the Municipal Systems Act, 32 of 2000, aimed at ensuring sustainable environmental health in the process of water service delivery.

(ii) Give comprehensive attention to the development and maintenance of a proper portable water supply and sanitation infrastructure in Mutale in an effort to prevent potential future of unclean water and diseases such as cholera.

The Department of Water and Environmental Affairs' (DWEA) Drinking Water Quality Framework provides the basic requirements for clean drinking water (RSA, 1997). Safe drinking water that complies with minimum drinking water specifications is crucial for the maintenance of human health over a life time of consumption. If the residents are provided with clean drinking water, it will undoubtedly improve local livelihoods and safeguard the community from exposure to water diseases.

The sources of water in Mutale are two rivers: Mutale River and Nwanedi Lupepe. Groundwater is a very valuable source of water; however, borehole yields and groundwater monitoring are problems in the district. The underground water provided to the communities is not clean and puts the majority of the residents under the risk of getting waterborne diseases such as cholera.

3.3. Research methodology

The research methodology and design adopted are supported by the literature review. The constructions of the research instruments (questionnaire, interview schedule, checklist etc.) are justified. The pretesting of the instruments in order to establish their validity and reliability are discussed.

3.3.1 Research design

The study adopted both qualitative and quantitative research approaches for data collection and analysis. Qualitative measures provide information on how households feel about the situation, how things are done and how people respond to an intervention (Dane, 1990). The study further used the qualitative approach to describe the nature and types and status of water that rural households use in the village, the effectiveness of strategies which are adopted by the authorities in making water available to the community and also to describe the level and consistency of water supply to the village. It is also used to assess the households' conditions of living, that is, their social, environmental and economic situation. Degrees of conceptual levels of water services delivery created in this study include, low, moderate and high. These levels are determined on the basis of a relevant system of ideas in the literature, as well as by the judgment made by households regarding their situation and the risks they face when using unclean water.

Quantitative methods provide the answers to the question: "How much and how many" and the results thereof are expressed in absolute numbers, percentages and ratios. The quantitative approach is used after the collection of data to analyze and interpret the data in terms of statistical values (Dane, 1990). The study adopted a quantitative approach to create records of the demographic profile on different households; and the frequency of change after households adopted some of the alternative water resources. The quantitative approach is also important in determining the proportion of households that are exposed to various types and status of water in the village, and also the amount of water supplied to the village either weekly or monthly.

3.3.2 Population of the study

The population of the study was made up of key informants, including community development members or leaders and workers, civic members (groups), Forum Members of Mukondeni village and Mutale Water supply Plant manager together with its workers. Mutale Local Municipality officials were surveyed using the snowball sampling method, so as to have as many key informants as possible. The study used primary data that were collected using a standardized questionnaire with questions that addressed water service delivery in Mukondeni village. The following aspects or

items were used to analyse the proposed study of the authorities responsible for water services delivery in the area: the officials in Mukondeni village, the types and status of water resources available in the village; the effectiveness of the authority in making water available to the village and the challenges faced by the authority responsible for water supply in the village.

3.3.3 Sampling method

Since it is generally impossible to study an entire population in the study area, the study relied on sampling procedure to acquire a section of the population to participate in the study. Dane (1990) refers to sampling as the process of selecting participants for research project. Self-selection sampling was used based on the responses and those interested in participating in the study and were invited to do so. The advantage of using sampling is that a researcher's collection of data using informants is less time consuming and less costly, and it is the only practical way to collect data when the population is extremely large. This decision was based on the calculation of the costs involved in the specific focus group. Therefore, the sample was made up of six Mutale Water Supply Plant workers and four councillors in Mukondeni village sampled through convenient sampling method in their places of work. Eight household members responsible for fetching water daily for domestic consumption were sampled through convenient sampling method at the water resources.

3.3.4 Data Collection method and analysis

Data were collected from the household members with a structured questionnaire. In-depth interviews were conducted with municipal water workers and the Mutale Local Municipality councillors. Textual secondary data were collected through literature review, desktop approach or study was employed. Primary or factual data were collected through a structured survey questionnaire and interviews. Qualitative data consist of narrative description which was obtained in qualitative inquiry. The data are detailed and rich, and include information about personal experiences, beliefs, perspectives, or situations relevant to the study. Qualitative data provide a high level of information to assist in decision-making. Data from households or participant members were collected through an assisted questionnaire (Appendix A). The field worker assisted the respondents in answering the questions. This decision
was made because of the high rate of illiteracy in the village. Interviews (Appendix B) were conducted with six to twelve key informants, including community development workers, to allow an open process of probing.

The output of the study is interpreted in accordance with the qualitative narration that was compiled from key informants' group and household's or community group member's respondents. From the interpretation, it was possible to determine whether the various risk (health) and level of satisfaction both in Mutale water services delivery officials and local-rural village residents in Mukondeni Village and surrounded area are increasing or decreasing their level of water services delivery to poor or better life for all.

3.5 Conclusion

For the purpose of this study the local village of Mukondeni, under the jurisdiction of the Mutale Local Municipality, Vhembe District of Limpopo Province, was identified as a case study. The current state of water services delivery at Mukondeni has a negative impact on the health of the local residents. As a result of the inconsistent water supply service, local residents have no other choice but to drink contaminated water from the nearby Mutale River. This, in recent times, has had the consequences of serious diseases such as cholera, diarrhoea and typhoid having eroded the health of local residents (Hinsch, 2009).

CHAPTER 4 STUDY RESULTS

4.1 Introduction

This chapter outlines the results of the thematic approach. Subthemes, frequencies and cross tabs were used to compute relevant variables which help address the issue of water service delivery in Mukondeni village. The purpose of this chapter is to present and interpret the empirical findings of this research. In interpretation, the immediate results are translated into integrated and meaningful statistics and findings (Nieman & Nieuwenhuizen, 2009). The findings are proved to be related to the objectives of the research. The success of this study is assured through both data analysis and interpretation.

4.2 Demographical information

4.2.1 Gender of the study sample

There was a need to determine the gender of the respondents in order to enable the researcher to make demographic inferences concerning the use of water in the study area. Figure 1 shows the gender of the respondents in terms of water usage.



Figure 1. Gender of the respondents per household

The above figure shows the gender of the respondents. In a sample of 50 households, 28 respondents (56%) were male while the remaining 22 (44%) were

female. There was a need to determine the gender of the respondents in order to enable the researcher to make demographic inferences concerning the respondents. The results thus indicate that females are much more users of water than males, although both individuals need water in their daily life.

4.2.2 Respondents' occupation

The Table below indicates the respondents' occupation status as these individuals are in a position to give a true picture of the trends of the water services delivery performance of their municipality.



Figure 2. Respondents' occupation

The graph above shows the occupation status of the respondents. Out of the 50 respondents, 6 (12%) were self-employed. While 15 (30%) of the respondents were unemployed. Only 1(2%) respondent did not provide any response about his or her occupation. Twenty-eight (56%) of the respondents are working class individuals.

4.2.3 Education level of the respondents

It is important to determine the educational level of the respondents, that is, respondents who do not have any school qualification, those with secondary level, tertiary level and post-graduate level.



Figure 3. Respondents' education level

The figure above shows the education level of the respondents. In a sample of 50 respondents, 1 respondent (2%) did not go to school at all. A total of 12 (24%) had secondary qualification and 25 respondents (50%) obtained tertiary education. Twelve respondents 12 (24%) had post-graduate qualifications.

4.2.4 Age of the respondents

This study targeted all age groups in the village, i.e all people who use water in their daily lives. This was mainly because these individuals are in a position to give a true picture concerning water services delivery.



Figure 4. shows the age categories of the respondents

The chart above shows the age of the respondents. Twelve (24%) of the respondents are less than 25 years old, while 18 (36%) of the respondents belong to the age group of between 25 and 35 years. Thirteen (26%) of the respondents are between 36 and 50 years. The remaining 7(14%) are aged between 51 and 65 years.

4.2.5 Marital status of the respondents

Table 3.	. Marital	status of	the	respondents
----------	-----------	-----------	-----	-------------

	Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Single	25	50.0	50.0	50.0
Unmarried	3	6.0	6.0	56.0
Married	21	42.0	42.0	98.0
Divorced	1	2.0	2.0	100.0
Total	50	100.0	100.0	

The Table above shows the marital status of the respondents. In the sample of 50 respondents more than half 28 (56%) were single. The other respondents, 21(42%), were married, while only 1(2%) was divorced.

4.2.6 Full-time or permanent resident of Mukondeni

Some of the respondents live in the village as permanent residents and some are non-permanent. The majority of the respondents 36 (76%) were full-time residents, while 12 (24%) were non-permanent residents.

		Frequency	Percent	Valid Percent	Cumulative Percent
Valid	Yes	38	76.0	76.0	76.0
	No	12	24.0	24.0	100.0
	Total	50	100.0	100.0	

Table 4. Permanent and non-permanent resident's respondent

4.2.7 Respodents' family size

Some families have a small number of members, while others are large families. The number of members in the family necessarily affects water usage.



Figure 6. The number of the family members

Most community members have large families, ranging from 6-7 people in each household, constituting 44% of the respondents. Thirty-two percent (32%) of the members in the households per family are between 3 and 5 members. Only 24% of the households have the largest numbers of 8-12 members in the family.

4.2.8 Source of water of the villager

There are many ways or sources in which the villagers can obtain water for drinking, cooking, washing and other uses even though this water is unclean. The sources include water from the river, boreholes, rainfall and pipelines from the neigbouring villages.



Figure 7. The main source of water supply in the village

Half of the respondents, which is 25 (50%) of the respondents indicated that their main source of water was from Mutale River which is nearby and 17 (34%) of the respondents got their water from the pipeline; with 3 (6%) saying they got water both from the river and pipeline, while 2(4%) sourced their water from boreholes or underground water. The other 3 (6%) source their water from the spring or use rain water.



Figure 8. Alternative sources of water supply in the village

The above figure shows that the majority of the community members get their alternative source of water from the river. This is supported by the pictures below taken by the researcher showing the villagers fetching water from the neighbouring villages. The majority of the respondents, 28 (56%), indicated that their alternative source of water came from Mutale River. Only 9 (18%) of the respondents said that their alternative source of water was from the pipeline. Some of the respondents preferred to buy or hire a car to fetch water from the surrounding villages, which are Maheni and Mangaya. The pictures below show hired cars which villagers use to fetch water.



Picture 1. The villagers of Mukondeni fetching pipeline water from Mangaya village.



Picture 2. The villagers of Mukondeni in a hired car fetching water in Maheni village

4.3. Theme 1: Responsibility of water services delivery in Mukondeni village

This subtheme indicates the responsible parties for water as a service to the Mutale municipality. Most respondents identified Vhembe District Municipality as a responsible body for water supply. For example, few councillors indicated a technical manager as the person responsible for water service delivery.

4.3.1 Responsible workers

This subtheme draws mixed reaction in the analysis. For example, one Mutale Municipality worker and community members said, workers were not doing enough to make sure that water was always available to all areas. While others said it was doing enough to supply water. On the other hand councillors said "responsible workers are doing well".

4.3.2 Water supply

This subtheme like the second one draws different responses, too. For example, community members believed that the Mutale Municipality was not providing sufficient water while the municipal workers believed it was supplying water. Councillors believed that the municipality provided sufficient support in water supply.

4.4 Theme 2: The competency of the authority in making water resource available to the village

4.4.1 Water resource planning

This subtheme was more on the municipal workers and authorities. Councillor's stressed that the municipality was planning to erect boreholes to bring effectiveness in water supply, while municipal workers argued that the municipal authority was planning to upgrade the water scheme to bring effectiveness.

4.4.2 Water complaints

This subtheme shows whether the municipality received any complaints from the communities. Municipal workers and community members said that they sent complaints and the municipal supplied them with water brought to them by trucks. *Imbizos* and IDPs were suggested as ways and forums to communicate.

4.4.3 Maintenance of pipelines and service delivery satisfaction

Under this subtheme both the municipality and community members showed that the villages were not satisfied with the water services. Community members of Mukondeni village were worried with the poor maintenance of the pipelines. Picture 3, which was taken by the researcher shows that the street pipelines are not maintained. Some of the respondents indicated that the municipality did not care about water services delivery in the village.



Picture 3. Poor pipelines maintenance in Mukondeni village

This subtheme was more on the municipal workers and councillors. Municipal workers argued that "the municipality is busy with the upgrading of water schemes". While the other municipal worker said "There is an operator busy with the maintenance". On the other hand, councillors showed that Vhembe District Municipality was responsible for maintenance.

4.5 Theme 3: The types and status of water supply resources available in the village

4.5.1 Types of water services

This subtheme shows the types of water services delivered to the villages by the municipality. Municipal worker, councillors and community members said that they used water tanks to deliver and get water. The current water projects that the Mutale Local Municipality has completed are the construction of a weir on Mutale River to augment the raw water quantity, increasing pipe capacity from 200mm to 400 mm diameter to convey more water from the weir to the water treatment plant. These improvements and changes in the water treatment plant from slows and filtration to rapid sand filtration system increase the capacity to 3.6 from 2.5 mega litres a day.

4.5.2 Water supply pattern

This subtheme shows the pattern of water services supply delivered to the villages by the municipality. One municipal worker said that they use trucks to supply water when there is shortage. There were mixed opinions on the community members' views. Some said that the municipality does not care. Others said there was no pattern and at times they supply water when there are funerals. A worrying comment was from one councillor who said, the municipality supplies water to Mukondeni village once a month.

4.5.3 Improving water supply

This subtheme shows what the three participants think must be done to improve water service delivery. One municipal worker said that "resources need to be increased". The villagers said the municipality needed to "fix and maintain water supply infrastructure". Councillors showed that there was a new development stage of "RDP houses with running water pipes".

The problem experienced at Mutale Local Municipality was that the residents were not paying for water services. This may be compounded by high unemployment and a few income earners with a regular income (Mutale Local Municipality IDP, 2007).

4.6 Challenges or problems experienced by the authority in ensuring consistent water supply to the village.

4.6.1 Problem faced

This subtheme shows the problem faced by all three participants. Another municipal worker said that lack of resources is a very big problem. The villagers said the municipality need to "communicate water supply patterns. They also said that "there is irregular delivery of water. Councillors were divided in this subtheme. For example, few showed that there was no problem while others stressed that communities had water service delivery problems.

4.6.2 Addressing problems

This subtheme shows how all the participants resolve their problem of water supply. A municipal worker suggested that "By having some additional technical staff", engaging ward councillors and tribal authorities it would be possible to find lasting solutions. One councillor suggested that community members needed to be educated on how to save and use water efficiently.

4.6.3 Role of villagers

This sub-theme shows the role that community members must play to resolve the problem of water scarcity. Few believe there is nothing they can do to resolve the problem. Municipal workers said the problem needed to be reported to the highest authorities. The councillors said that community members must "erect boreholes and store water in tanks and they must also advise the municipality on the water challenges.

4.7 Ethical considerations

Informed consent was sought at the beginning of the study. In addition, the respondents were asked to answer the questionnaire only to the best of their knowledge. There was no pressure to get them to respond to the questions posed.

4.8 Conclusion

This chapter presented the research findings. The objectives and the hypotheses were revisited. Data were analysed using the Statistical Package for Social Science (SPSS 16.0) software. The methods used to analyse data were also explained. The hypotheses were tested, and conclusions drawn. The next chapter presents discussion of the study findings, draws conclusions and highlights areas that still need further research.

CHAPTER 5 DISCUSSION, CONLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Discussion

This chapter reviews the interpretations of the study findings. Furthermore, it draws some recommendations from the empirical results and also lays forward recommendations for further research and policy implication in the water service delivery at the local municipal level. This chapter is presented in three sections. The study is summarized in section 5.1 where the findings of the study are discussed, section 5.2 presents the conclusions drawn from the key findings and section 5.3 presents the recommendations of the study. The general objective of the study was to explore water service delivery in Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe District located in Limpopo Province. The study applied a thematic approach to answer the research questions. The themes showed different findings to support water service delivery in Mukondeni village.

5.1.1 Demography information

The demographic data of the study area is important since these figures may be used for future planning and projection. The determination of the demographic data is not only unique to this study. For example, a case study in Iquitos City, Peru had to grapple to determine the actual number of residents in the city (Fujita et al., 2005). The study showed that 86 per cent of the respondents were heads of households and only 14 percent were not. The study showed that 44 percent females were heads of households, while 56 percent were males. The households of Mukondeni village had on average of five members in their family. The owners of such houses were regarded as permanent residents of Mukondeni village since their names were in the community citizenship register (Mutale IDP, 2013/14).

Some households had no members living there as these had gone to other provinces on account of work, schooling and tertiary studies. Members of some households were there but the whole family was absent. The husbands only stayed there for work purposes only to go to their respective rural homes over the weekends. The owners only returned home during holidays, but a relative or domestic worker stayed in the household.

The differences in the number of members in each household may be due to the following reasons: In African culture married women are submissive to their husbands as the husbands are the recognised household heads (Tshesane, 2001). The husbands engage in migrant work far away in the big cities and come home during the holidays (Collinson et al., 2006); or child headed households and also single mothers may become head of the household (Keith, 2002).Nevertheless, the prime advantage for female headed household is the high awareness about water uses in the household, location of water sources and daily collection of drinking water (Arouna & Dabbert, 2012; Mezgebo & Ewnetu, 2015).

5.1.2 Comparison of gender and level of education

Figure 1 and Figure 3 (page 32 and 34 respectively) shows the cross tabs of gender and educational level respectively. The chart for gender and figure 3 for level of education of household members shows the cross tabs for gender and level of education. Both males and females were represented and had different views regarding water services delivery. The villagers contribute in the use of water in different ways in their daily lives. This practice can hamper sustainable water supply in the village.

Marked effects significant p = 0.05

Chi-square	1.40
Р	0.496
Df	2

The Chi-square test shows if there is a relationship between two categorical variables. The p value must be larger than the cut off value of 0.05, which implies that in this case there is no statistically significant difference between level of education and practice which can hamper sustainable water supply.

5.1.3 Comparison of occupation and the age of the respondents

Figure 2 above shows the cross tabs for occupation and figure 4 shows the age categories of the respondents. Across self-employed, employed and unemployed showed different ratings. Within those who are self-employed none of the

respondents rated the service as poor. The employed rated the services across all three scales. The unemployed did not deem the service as either moderate or good.

Marked effects significant $p = 0.05$		
Chi-square	0.80	
Р	0.096	

1

Df

Marked effects significant p = 0.05

The Chi-square test shows if there is a relationship between two categorical variables. The p value must be larger than the cut off value of 0.05, which implies that in this case there is no statistical significance between transport cost and any measures which can be taken. The exact procedures for analysing the data, and the computer programmes used, must be specified. The research findings must be related to similar or different findings reported in the literature review. It is essential that the discussion of the research findings should not only relate to the literature review, but should also indicate correlations or contrasts in findings obtained in response to different questions. Any unexpected findings should be recorded as such, and possible explanations should be provided, if possible.

5.1.4 The authorities responsible for water services delivery in the Mukondeni village

Vhembe District Municipality is responsible for water supply together with their technical staff or manager. The provincial government and district municipality had failed to keep rural water supplies functioning properly, as it had not provided sufficient on-going support (Algotsson & Murombo, 2009). The Mutale Local Municipality and Water Department admit that they are not providing water services to Mukondeni villagers to their satisfaction. The administrative, technical capacity and support staff members in water services need to be strengthened. The administrative system should be accessible and receptive to the public or community as a whole (Smith & Green, 2005).

5.1.5 The effectiveness of distribution of water by the authority in the village

It is important to outline how regulations in the water sector works in South Africa. The DWA regional offices regulate municipalities within the provinces where they are situated, exercising authority on non-partisan lines. At the local level, a Water Service Authority has oversight over a Water Service Provider directly responsible for local operations. The Ward Committee has direct oversight over water services, raising any concerns with its mayors and ward councillors. The Mutale Local Municipality provides track tankering water supply system to the village, thus ensuring that there is access of water services for the basic needs such as water for drinking, cocking and washing or doing laundry (Howard & Bartram, 2003).

In practice, administratively, this division of labour has not worked. Local regulation in water services has been weak because municipal water departments are both referee and player at the same time. Politicians, Ward committees and Ward councillors have become rife with patronage and are often insufficiently knowledgeable about water issues to adequately express matters raised in their constituencies at the city council level (Smith, 2011).Some of the respondents raised concerns about the hiring of qualified and knowledgeable workers in water services delivery department.

5.1.6 The current main source of water supply in the Mukondeni village

The Department of Water Affairs (DWA) is mandated with managing and protecting the country's water resources, with the National Regulator responsible for systems of accountability. The finding shows that the majority of the population obtains water from the river and their alternative source of water comes from the pipelines in the neighbouring village. They hire cars to transport this water. Figures 4.1 and 4.2 show the villagers of Mukondeni fetching water from the neighbour Mangaya and Maheni villages respectively. The communities of Mukondeni village are dissatisfied with the state of water service supply / delivery in the village. They end up getting their water from Mutale River. Since this water is untreated, it is a health risk.

5.1.7 The challenges experienced by the municipality authorities and water services department regarding consistent water supply to the village

Mutale Local Municipality faces the challenge of supplying water services as there is an increase in population just like any other municipality in South Africa. The current challenge in Mukondeni village is inadequate capacity supply levels of quality water and illegal connections on supply pipelines. Some of the challenges are depicted by pictures 1, 2 and 3. There is concern from Mutale water services workers about illegal pipelines connection by community members of Mangaya and Maheni. It is also accompanied by the lack or poor water monitoring system and inefficient control of the pipelines and plant valves. Illegal connection results in low pressure of water supply on the main pipelines.

5.2. Conclusion

The study sought to assist Mutale Local Municipality in finding the reasons why the residents were not satisfied with the level of water services delivery, suggesting ways to persuade the local municipality, water services workers (Vhembe water workers), traditional leaders (headmen), the community or residents to address the challenges, and raising the community's awareness to the advantages of dealing directly with the water services. The study was designed to evaluate the community's satisfaction with the current water supply services, source of water, challenges experienced by the municipal authorities in providing water consistently to Mukondeni village and the type and status of water resources available.

The DWAF (2012) promulgated a minimum level of water supply of 25 litres per capita per day, which the local authorities are expected to provide to their residents without the residents incurring any costs or paying for the water charges within 200 m from their homes. The free basic water supply is water supply that is subsidised by Mutale Local Municipality and any consumption above the free water 25 litres per capita per day attracts payment by the consumer (Mutale Local Municipality IDP, 2007). Local Municipality Priorities and Target per Cluster of the municipalities must directly get involved the daily lives of the communities as they are the ones who serve them. Therefore, they have an obligation to develop a culture of participatory governance to encourage and empower local communities to participate in the affairs of their authorities (DPSA, 2004/5).

DWA also developed Build-Operate-Train-Transfer (BOTT) and Project Implementing Authority (PIA) as a means to construct new infrastructure, train and facilitate the local government and communities in the management process. PIA

provided various types of operation and maintenance support to the local government. Water treatment system and process controller classification as per requirement of Regulation needs to be finalized on BDS (Limpopo Municipal Blue Drop Assessment, 2011).

5.3 Recommendations

Based on the research findings, Mutale Local Municipality should introduce the reallocation of water services department, launch awareness campaigns together with monitoring and maintenances systems in water services delivery. The municipality should also have one main pipeline; this will lead to an improvement of water services delivery. It is also important to introduce meter system charges or adopt a business model when it comes to households or stand taps. The systems will discourage the misuse of water, at the same time meeting the standard of free basic water needs for the indigents. Generally, the following could be the proposed solutions to improve water service delivery capability.

5.3.1 Reallocation of the water services department

The municipal authority and the Mutale water workers should jointly work together as a single municipality, rather than the current situation where Mutale water services departments are controlled by Vhembe District Municipality. This creates a long channel of communication between the municipal authority, water workers and endusers of water in general. Equally this causes unnecessary delays when the community members report poor water services supply. Direct communication must be established between the Mutale municipality and the community or end-user of water. The provision and maintenance of water services should also be done by Mutale Local Municipality rather than Vhembe District Municipality.

5.3.2. Awareness campaigns

The municipality should also conduct public meetings at the end or beginning of each year to get the respondents' report on their performance on water supply services in the previous year. Such an exercise can bring qualitative improvement as people will discuss pertinent issues related to the supply of water, thus collectively seeking new ways of managing the situation. Accurate data on the demography of the study area is important since the figures may be used for future planning and

projection in maintenance and service delivery. It is important for the support groups or participants to become accepted members in principle for the local municipality and organizations in government programmes.

Public participation and co-operation with Mutale Local Municipality authorities is necessary. This will encourage effective and efficient provision of water services delivery. It implies democratic participation of citizens in elaborating or implementing water policies and projects as well as managing water resources (Orange & Rijsberman, 2000). The method intends to raise the ability of the public premised on the assumption that people need to understand how services work and how to interface with their councils. The 'Citizens' Voice' process has helped create knowledge and procedures to ensure that beneficiaries are able to hold to account those who deliver services if they fail to comply with existing standards. In particular, the user platforms provide a way for the public to raise structural issues and to support local ward councillors to express local grievances through the ward committee structure.

5.3.3 One main pipeline from the plant to the villagers

The municipality or water section department should install or used one main pipeline connection, rather than two different water supply pipelines from Tshandama dam to the villagers. The connection of the water taps in their yard, must be accompanied by the meters in all of their households. The introducing of the prepaid water supply system can lead to efficient usage of water to all villagers; the households should pay for the amount of water they use in their household. The reconstruction of one main pipeline from Tshandama dam or main source of water supply in the Mutale Local Municipality will bring efficient and affective water usage. It will also have in place better monitoring system of water services.

5.3.4 Adopt a business model for water services delivery

Water services delivery units or departments must be structured on good business principles. This implies a properly staffed organization that includes all the skills and experience required for the effective management and operation of the service, covering both the technical and financial responsibilities. Councillors have an

important role to play in this organization, being the equivalent of the board of directors.

5.4 Overview of research findings

The municipality has initiated developmental projects that are aimed at increasing the quantity of water (Mutale Local Municipality IDP, 2007). The current water projects that the Mutale Local Municipality (MLM) has completed are the construction of a weir on Mutale River to augment the raw water quantity. It has increased pipe size from 200mm to 400 mm diameter to convey more water from the weir to the water treatment plant and has changed the water treatment plant from slows and filtration to rapid sand filtration system with the capacity of 3.6 mega litres a day. Further, it has constructed two additional water reservoirs with a combined capacity of 13 mega litres.

Many rural households do not have private water connections and, thus, are forced to travel a distance or hire cars to collect water from neighbouring villages public taps, springs (rainfall) and Mutale River (MLM IDP, 2007). However, there are some rural households that own private water taps that are connected to the main municipal water distribution system and shared with the neighbouring villages. The Water Safety Plan needs to improve in order to cover all the supply systems. Other aspects requiring improvement include a more thorough assessment of risks, a risk prioritization method and various treatment systems in final water has to be conducted to avoid all contaminant possibilities. Without management support and availing of budget, DWQ management services will never adhere to all the requirements of satisfactory performance (Smith & Green, 2005).

5.5 Areas for further research

Many policy-makers, researchers, and water managers advocate that water must be managed at the level of river basins, based on the argument that river basins are a natural unit and the logic unit for water management (Newson, 1997). There may be some value, in the use of Mutale River water supply as alternative water source.

REFERENCES

- Abdullar, I. & Rakhmatullaev, S. (2015). Transformation of water management Central Asia: From State-centric, hydraulic mission to socio-political control. 73(2):849-861.
- Alexander, P. (2010). Rebellion of the poor: South Africa's service delivery protests a preliminary analysis. Review of African Political Economy 37(123):25–40.
- Algotsson, E. & Murombo, T. (2009). Water Supply and Sanitation in South Africa: Environmental Rights and Municipal Accountability. LHR Publication Series (1/2009), funded by Developed Bank of South Africa.
- Arouna, A & Dabbert, S. (2012). Estimating rural households' willingness to pay for water supply improvements: A Benin case study using a semi-nonparametric bivariate probit approach. *Water International*, 37 (3): 293-304.
- Ashton, P, Godfrey, L, Hattingh, H, Turton, A, Colvin, C., Claassen, M. (2007). Water sustainable Development and Environmental awareness: CSIR.
- Ashton, P & Godfrey, L. (2014). Water Sustainable Development and Environmental Awareness: CSIR.
- Ashton, P.J., Love, D, H. Mahachi, H, & Dirks, P.H.G.M. (2001). An Overview of the Impact of Mining and Mineral Processing Operations on Water Resources and Water Quality in the Zambezi, Limpopo and Olifants Catchments in Southern Africa. Contract Report to the Mining, Minerals and Sustainable Development (Southern Africa) Project, by CSIR Environmentek, Pretoria, South Africa and Geology Department, University of Zimbabwe, Harare, Zimbabwe.
- Ashton, P.J. & B. Haasbroek, B. (2001). Water demand management and social adaptive capacity: A South African case study. In: (A.R. Turton & R. Henwood (Eds), "Hydropolitics in the Developing World: A Southern African Perspective".
 African Water Issues Research Unit (AWIRU) and International Water Management Institute (IWMI), Pretoria.
- Atkinson, D. (2007). Taking to the streets: Has developmental government failed in South Africa? In State of the Nation: South Africa.
- Baker, C., Lentz, R. & Curry, S. (2006). Strategy of Widespread Implementation of Numerous, Independent Small Scale Household Water Treatment Programs.
 World Water Week in Stockholm. Beyond the River: Sharing Benefits and Repossibilities. August 20–26, Stockholm International Water Institute.

- Bartram, J. (1999). Effective Monitoring of Small Drinking-water Supplies in Providing Safe Drinking-water in Small Systems: CRC Press.
- Baumann, E. & Danert, K. (2008). Operation and Maintenance of Rural Water Supplies in Malawi: *Study Findings*. St.Gallen, Switzerland: SKAT.
- Beauchene, C. X. (2009). Output-Based Aid in Morocco (Part 2): Expanding Water Supply Service in Rural Areas." OB Approaches, GPOBA (26).Bhandari, B. & Grant, M. (2001). User satisfaction and sustainability of drinking water schemes in rural communities of Nepal.
- Bhandari, B. & Wickramanayake, B. (2001). Community management and water quality in rural water supply system in Nepal. *Asia-Pacific Journal of Rural Development*, 10(2):53–67.
- Bhorat, H., Van der Westhuizen, C & Naidoo, P. (2008). Shifts in non-income welfare in South Africa: 1993 - 2004. Development Policy Research Unit (DPRU). University of Cape Town, Cape Town.
- Bittner, E. & Tavares, S. (2015). Management of Sustainable Drinking Water Supply through Alternative Methods in Municipal Councils of Ratnagiri, Sindhudurg and Raigad District of Maharashtra. http://www.researchgate.net/publication.
- Bland, T., Bruk, B., Kim, D. & Lee, K. 2010. Enhancing Public Sector Innovation Examining the Network-Innovation Relationship. The Innovation Journal: The Public Sector Innovation Journal, 15(3):1-17.
- Blue Drop Assessment (BDA). (2010/11). Distribution of water supply system in Limpopo. Bolivia, and Ghana, Water Sector Board Discussion Paper series, Washington, DC: World Bank.
- Booysen, S. (2007). With the ballot and the brick: The politics of attaining service delivery. *Progress in Development Studies*, 7(123):21–32.
- Booysen, S. (2009). Public participation in democratic South Africa: From popular mobilisation to structural co-optation and protest. Politeia, 28(1):1–27.
- Budds, J. & Mc Granahan, G. (2003). *Water Privatization: Are the debates on water* privatization missing the point? Experiences from Africa, Asia and Latin America. Environment Urbanization Vol. 15 No 2 October 2003.
- Casey, B. Yonas, G. Laverty, M. & Ke, L. (2012). Water Resources Research, VOL.
 48.Decision scaling: Linking bottom-up vulnerability analysis with climate projections in the water sector.

- Claassen, M. Funke, N. & Nienaber S, 2013. Scenarios for the South African Water Sector in 2025. Water South Africa 39 (1). 143-149. http://www.wrc.org.za.
- Collinson, M. Tollman, S. M., Kahn, K., Clark, S. & Garenne, M. (2006). Highly prevalent circular migration: Households, mobility and economic status in rural South Africa. Africa on the Move: African Migration and Urbanisation in Comparative Perspective, 194-216.
- Coutinho, D. (2009). Water management challenges in South Africa: Alleviating water stress and scarcity through wind-powered desalination technologies. Harvard Africa Policy Journal, (6): 61-69.
- Dalton, R. Van Sickle, A. & Weldon, S. (2010). *The individual-institutional nexus of protest behaviour. British Journal of Political Science*, 40:51–73.

Dane, F C. (1990). In Search of Reasonable Doubt: A Systematic Examination of Selected Quantification Approaches. Department of Water Affairs, South Africa.

- Department of Water Affairs (DWA). (2010). Annual report of the Department of Water Affairs 2009-2010. Pretoria:
- Department of Water Affairs and Forestry. *National Water Resource Strategy*.www.dwaf.gov.za/docs/NWRS. Pretoria. (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF). (2004). A history of first decade of water service delivery in South Africa 1994-2004. Department of Water Affairs and Forestry, Pretoria.
- Doria, M. D. (2010). Factors influencing public perception of drinking water quality. *Water Policy Climate Institute Water* (<u>www.climate.org/topics/water.html</u>). (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Economics of Climate Adaptation (ECA). (2009). Shaping climate resilient development: a framework for decision making. Climate Works Foundation, Global Environment Facility, European Commission, McKinsey & Company. The Rockefeller Foundation, Standard Chartered Bank and Swiss R E.
- Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF), (1996). South African Water Quality Guidelines (Vol. 1). Domestic Uses Department of Water Affairs & Forestry, Pretoria.
- Department of Water Affairs and Forestry (DWAF), (1998). Quality of Domestic Water Supplies. Assessment Guide. 1 (2nd edn.) Department of Water Affairs & Forestry, Department of Health and Water Research Commission.

- Dhaka, (2008). An Assessment of Rural Piped Water Schemes in Bangladesh: *Water and Sanitation Program*.
- Falkenmark, M. (1994). The dangerous spiral: near-future risks for water-related ecoconflicts. In: Proceedings of the ICRC Symposium "Water and War: Symposium on Water in Armed Conflicts", International Committee of the Red Cross, Montreux, Switzerland, 21-23 November 1994.
- *Fichtner Water and Transportation* G H. (2010). Evaluation of the process of the profession nationalisation of the legislation in Water and Sanitation Programme.
- Francis, R. (2005). Water justice in South Africa: Natural resource policy at the intersection of human rights, economics, and political power. Georgetown International Environmental Law Review, 18: 149-197.
- Fujita, Y. F. A., Furukawa. S., Ogawa, T. (2005). Estimating willingness to pay for water and sanitation services through contingent valuation method: A Case Study in Iquitos City, Republic of Peru, JBICI Review, and No.10.
- Gibbs, G. R. (2007). Analysing qualitative data. London: Saga publications Ltd.
- Gersberg, R.M. (2009). Municipal solid waste management in China: Status, problems and challenges: *Journal of Environmental Management*.
- Gleick, P.H. (1996). Water and conflict: fresh water resources and international security. *International Security*, 18 (1): 84-117.
- Gleick, P H. (1999). Pacific Institute for Studies in Development, Environment, and Security. *The human right to water*, 654 13th Street, Oakland, CA 94612, USA.
- Gleitsmann, B A., Kroma, M M. & Steenhuis T. (2007). Analysis of a rural water supply project in three communities in Mali: *Participation and Sustainability Natural Resources Forum*, 31: 142–150.
- Guardiola, J., González-Gómez, F. & Grajales, ÁL. (2010). Is access to water as good as the data claim? *Case study of Yucatan. International Journal of Water Resource Development*, 26:219–333.
- Gurr, T.R. (1970). Why men rebel. Princeton, NJ (ed): Princeton University Press.
- Habib, A. (2010). The state of the nation and its public service in contemporary South Africa: *A critical reflection. Administration Publications*, 18(3):2–24.
- Hang, D.Q., Tan, S.K. & Gersberg, R.M. (2009). Municipal solid waste management in China: Status, problems and challenges: Journal of Environmental Management.

- Harvey, P.A & Reed, R.A. (2004). Water supply and sanitation in South Africa. Community Development Journal: 42, 365–378.
- Herbertson, P.W. & Tate, E.L. (2001). Tools for water use and demand management in South Africa. Report 73, *The World Meteorological Organisation*, WMO/TD-No 1095, Geneva.
- Hoek, W., Enskin, J.H., Matsumo, Y., Munir, S. & Aslam, M. R. (2002). Use of Untreated wastewater in Peri-Urban Agriculture in Pakistan. *Risk and Opportunities.*
- Hinsch, M. (2009) .Current service delivery challenges for municipalities with regard to water management. *Civil Engineering:* 41-42, June.
- Hirschowitz, R. & Orkin, M. (1997). Inequality in South Africa: Findings from the 1994 October Household Survey. *Soc. Indicator Res.* 41 119-136.
- Howard, G. & Bartram, J. (2003). Domestic water quantity, service level and health. World Health Organisation.
- Howard, G & Bartram, J. (2013). Domestic Water Quantity, Service, Level and Health, World Health Organization.
- Howard, G. (2003). World Health Organisation (WHO): Domestic Water Quantity, Service Level and Health: Programme Manager. *Water Engineering and Development Centre*, Loughborough University, UK.
- Howard, G. & Pond, K. (2012). Drinking water surveillance programmes in the South-East Asia Region: updated situation assessment and recommendations for future activity. WHO/SEARO, New Delhi, India.
- Hunter, P.R., Zmirou-Navier, D. & Hartemann, P. (2010). Estimating the impact on health of poor reliability of drinking water interventions in developing countries. *Science Total Environmental*, 407:2621.
- Johansen, P.O. (1996). Cost-benefit analysis of environmental change. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.
- Katsriku, F. A., Wilson, M., Yamoah, G.G., Abdulai, J D, Rahman, B.M.A. & Grattan, K.T.V. (2015). *Framework for Time Relevant Water Monitoring System*.
- Keller, A., Keller, J. & Seckler, D. (1996). Integrated Water Resource Systems: Theory and Policy Implications; Research Report 3; International Water Management Institute: Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- Kleemeier, E.L. (2010). Private operators and rural water supplies: A Desk Review of Experience.

- Kleiner, S. M. (1999). *Water: An Essential but Overlooked Nutrient*. Journal of the American Dietetic Association, Volume 99, Issue 4, April 1999, Page 411
- Keith, T. & Woolard, I. (2002). Achieving Employment Equity in the Public Service: a study of changes between 1995 and 2001. *Development Policy Research Unit.* Working Paper.
- Kidd, M. (2011). Positioning the right to water in South Africa: What can the law do?
- Koekemoer, R. (2009). Community participation in the planning of water service delivery in a rural community in Limpopo Province. *Unpublished Master's dissertation*, University of Johannesburg, South Africa.
- Koestler, L., Koestler, A.G., Koestler, M.A., Koestler, V.J. (2010). Improving sustainability using incentives for operation and maintenance: *The concept of water-person-year*s. Waterlines; 29:147–62.
- Lotter, D. (2007). Franchising to improve delivery of water services, science for society services delivery.
- Luiz, C.R.S., Griesinger, M.O., Norberto, J., Dachs, W., Marta A. B., & Tavares S. (2010). Inequities in access to and use of drinking water services in Latin America and the Caribbean.
- Majuru, B., Mokoena, M.M., Jagalsa, P., & Hunter, P. (2012). Health impact of smallcommunity water supply reliability. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 214: 162–166.
- Meyer, W.N. (2007). The economics of Water, Water for Life: Sanitation for Dignity. Pretoria: Van Schaik Publishers.
- Mezgebo, G.K. & Ewnetu, Z. (2015). Journal of Development and Agricultural Economics. Households' willingness to pay for improved water services in urban areas: A case study from Nebelet town, Ethiopia
- Momba, M.N.B, Obi, C. L. & Thompson, P. (2009). Survey of disinfection efficiency of small drinking water treatment plants: *Challenges facing small water treatment plants in South Africa.*
- Moriarty, P., Batchelor, C., Fonseca, C., Klutse, A., Naafs, A., Nyarko, K. (2010). Ladders for assessing and costing water service delivery. *International Water and Sanitation Centre:* WASH Cost, IRC.
- Mutiyar, P.K., Mittal, A.K. & Pekdeger, A. (2001). *Drinking Water Engineering and Science* (DWES). Status of organochlorine pesticides in the drinking water wellfield located in the Delhi region of the flood plains of river Yamuna

- Mutale Integrated Development Plan (MIDP), (2012). Mutale Local Municipality Integrated Development Plan 2012/13-2016/17. <u>http://www.mutale.gov.za</u>. (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Nemadodzi, T. (2012). Ceramic water filter for point-of-use water treatment in Limpopo province, South Africa. Univ. of Venda, South Africa.
- Neuman, W. L. (2011). Social research methods: Qualitative and quantitative approaches, 7th ed. Wisconsin: University of Wisconsin at White Water.
- Newson, M. (1997). Land, water and development: sustainable management of river basin systems. London and New York: Routledge.
- Nieman, G. & Nieuwenhuizen, C. (2009). Entrepreneurship: A South African Perspective Van Schaik.
- Obi, C.L., Potgieter, N., Bessong, P.O. & Matsaung, G. (2002). Assessment of the microbial quality of river water sources in rural Venda communities in South Africa: *Water in South Africa*, 28 (3): 287-292.
- Obi,C.L., Momba, M.N.B., Samie, A., Igumbor, J.O., Green, E. & Musie, E. (2007). Water South Africa; Microbiological, physico-chemical and management parameters impinging on the efficiency of small water treatment plants in the Limpopo and Mpumalanga Provinces of South Africa: Vol. 33 (2):443-495.
- Ohlsson, L. (1995). Water and Security in Southern Africa. Publications on Water Resources, No. 1. Swedish International Development Agency (SIDA), Department for Natural Resources and the Environment.
- Ohlsson, L. & Turton, A.R. (1999). *The Turning of a Screw*. "Urban Stability through Integrated Water Related Management", <u>http://www.soas.ac.uk/</u> Geography/ Water Issues/ Occasional Papers. (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Palmer, E. (1994) & Lotter, O. (1995). Sustainability of Service Delivery in Municipalities in South Africa. Van Schalkwyk. Department of Public Administration and Management, University of South Africa.
- Peters, K. & Oldfield, S. (2005). The paradox of "Free basic water" and cost recovery in Grabouw: Increasing household debt and municipal financial loss. *Urban Forum*, 16(4): 313-335.
- Rananga, H.T. & Gumbo, J.R. (2015). Willingness to Pay for Water Services in Two
 Communities of Mutale Local Municipality, South Africa: A Case Study.
 Department of Hydrology and Water Resources, University of Venda.

Rijsberman, F. (2000).Summary report of the 2nd world water forum: The Prince of Orange from vision to action. *Water Policy*, 2, 387–395.

Rist, G. (1999). The History of Development. London: ZED Book.

- Robinson, A. & Ajay, P. (2000). The Growth of Private Sector Participation and Rural Water Supply and Sanitation in Bangladesh. New Delhi: *Water and Sanitation Programme.*
- Rogers, P. (2010). Coping with global warming and climate change. *Journal of Water Resources Planning Management.*
- Rosegrant, M.W. & Cline, C. A. (2002). South Africa World Water and Food for 2025: *Dealing with Scarcity*. Washington, DC: International Food Policy Research Institute.
- Rost, K. T., Ratfielde, G. & Topbaev, O. (2015). *Fiscal policy, Water security and Scarcity*. Water pricing, changing and economic growth.
- Rost, K.T, Ratfelder, G. & Topbaev, O. (2015). Problems of rural drinking water supply management in Central Kyrgyzstan: *A case study from Kara-Suu village*, Naryn Oblast.
- Sehring, J. (2007). Irrigation reform in Kyrgyzstan and Tajikistan. South African Water Research Commission (SAWRC), Regional water statistics. (www.wrc.org.za/pages/Resources). (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Seshoka, J., De Lange, W. & Faysse, N. (2004). The transformation of irrigation boards into water user associations in South Africa. Case studies of the Lower Oliphants, Great Letaba and Vaalharts water user associations. Working paper 72, Volume 1, International Water Management Institute.
- Saleth, R.M., Dinar, A. (1999). Evaluating water institutions and water sector performance (World Bank technical paper no. 447). *The World Bank*, Washington.
- Scholes, R.J. & Salinger, M.J. (2001). Summary for policymakers. A report of Working Group I of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Statistics South Africa (STASSA), (2011). Statistical release, 2010 community survey. Statistics South Africa, Pretoria.
- Stephens, C. (1996). *Healthy cities or unhealthy islands*. The health and social implications of urban inequality Environment and Urbanization, 8(2): 9-30.

- Stewart, G. (2012). Water and wastewater; learning from private business: *Services delivery solution for water services*. IMIESA: 30-42.
- The Water Wheel, (2012). <u>"Rural Free Basic Water Under Magnifying Glass"</u>. Summary of "Development of Models to Facilitate the Provision of Free Basic Water in Rural Areas (Water Research Commission Report No 1379/1/05)".
- Thompson, L. & Nleya, L. (2008). *Millennium Development Goals and water service delivery strategies*: Reflections on the fit between national and local policies on water in the context of global poverty alleviation initiatives.
- Thompson, H., Stimie C.M, Richters E. & Perret S. (2001). Policies, Legislation and Organizations Related to Water in South Africa, With Special Reference to the Olifants River Basin. Working paper 18 (South African Working Paper No. 7), International water Management Institute, Colombo, Sri Lanka.
- Tshesane, M. (2001). Women abuse in the family context: an ethological approach. *Crime Research in South Africa*. 3(3): 1-8.
- Van Ginkel, C.E. (2001). Eutrophication: Present reality and Future challenges for South Africa. http://www.wrc.org.za. (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Warnera, J., Westerb, P. & Bolding. A. (2008). *Water Policy*: Going with the flow: river basins as the natural units for water management.
- Water services access and backlog trends from the water services national information system. URL: <u>http://www.dwaf.gov.za/dir_ws/wsnis/</u> (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Water Supply and Sanitation in South Africa (WSSSA), Health and environment of South Africa. (February 2014). *Water supply and sanitation in South Africa*.
- Wester, P., Merrey, D.J., & De Lange, M. (2003). World Development: Boundaries of Consent: Stakeholder Representation in River Basin Management in Mexico and South Africa.
- Wester, P., Burton, M. & Mestre-Rodríquez, E. (2001). Managing Water Transition in the Lerma-Chapala Basin, Mexico. In Abernethy, C.L. (Ed.). (2001). Intersectoral Management of River Basins. Colombo: International Water Management Institute (IWMI).
- Whittington, D. & Boland, J.J. (2012). Water Tariffs and Subsidies in South Asia: Understanding the Basics. Washington D.C., Public Infrastructure Advisory Facility, Water and Sanitation Programme, World Bank and World Bank Institute: 16.

- Woorlard, T. (2002). *Policy Issues and Actors*, for Affirmative Action and State Capacity in a Democratic South Africa. Vol 20 no 4
- World Bank Water Demand Research Team. (1993). The demand for water in rural areas: Determinants and policy implications. *The World Bank Research Observer*, 8(1):47–70.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2011). Guidelines for Drinking-Water Quality, 4th ed. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- World Health Organisation (WHO). (2003). Emerging Issues in Water and Infectious Diseases. Geneva, Switzerland: World Health Organization.
- World Water Assessment Programme. (2003). *Water for people, water for life*. New York: United Nations Economic, Social, Cultural Organization & Berghahn Books.
- World Resources Institute and Water resources and freshwater ecosystems, country profile South Africa (<u>www.earthtrends.wri.org/text/water-resources/country-profile-165.html.</u> (Accessed 19 February 2011).
- Wright, J. A., Yang, H., Rivett, U. & Gundry, S. W. (2012). *Biomed Central (BMC): Public Health.* Public perception of drinking water safety in South Africa: http://www.biomedcentral.com.
- Young, M. (2015). *Fiscal Instruments and Water Scarcity*: Research paper prepared for the Green Growth Knowledge Platform (GGKP). The University of Adelaide Australia.
- Zaki, S. & Amin N.A.T.M, (2009). *Urban studies*; Does Basic Services Privatization Benefit the Urban Poor. Some Evidence from Water Supply Privatization in Thailand.

Appendix A

QUESTIANNAIRE FOR THE PROJECT: WATER SERVICES DELIVERY IN MUKONDENI VILLAGE IN LIMPOPO PROVINCE

I am Lidzani Lucas Netshipale, a Master of Development Studies student in the Turfloop Graduate School of Leadership (TGSL) at the University of Limpopo. I am conducting research into water services delivery in Mukondeni village in Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe District Municipality in Limpopo Province. This research will be used for academic purposes only. Please be assured that the responses from the respondents will be kept confidential. If you need any assistance in answering the questions, please do not hesitate to ask. Your cooperation and participation in this research and answering questions honestly will be greatly appreciated.

Thank you in anticipation for your cooperation.

A. 1.1. Demographic information

1. Gender of the respondent

Male	1
Female	2

2. Occupation of the respondent

Water service	s staff	1
(general employee)		
Senior staff employee		2
Management staff		3
Mayor or councillor		4

3. Level of education

No schooling at all	1
Primary level	2
Secondary level	3
Tertiary level	4
Postgraduate education	5

4. Age of the respondent

Less than 25 years	1
25 35 years	2
36-50 years	3
51- 65 years	4
Greater than 65 years	5

5. Marital status of the respondent

Single	1
Unmarried	2
Widowed	3
Married	4
Divorced	5

6. How long have you been working in this section or municipality?

0-10 years	1
11-20 years	2
11-30 years	3
31- 40 years	4
41- Until now (entire life)	5

7. What is type of employment do you have in the Mutale Local Municipality?

Permanent employee	1
Contract employee	2
Part-time employee	3

B. **Theme 1**. The authorities responsible for water services delivery in Mutale Local Municipality.

1. Who is responsible for water services delivery in Mutale Local Municipality?

2. Are the responsible worker(s) doing enough to make sure that water is always available to all areas?

3. Does the municipality provide sufficient support in water supply to the villages?

4. What are the monitoring measures for the authorities who are responsible for the provision of water services?

Theme 2. The competency of the authority in making water available to the village.

1. What is the kind of planning on the part of the municipality authority which can bring the effectiveness of water services delivery?

2. Does the municipality receive compliance from the community regarding water services delivery? And how do they respond to them?

3. Are community members satisfied with the water services supply?

4. Does the municipality have any maintenance schedule on water services delivery? If yes, how does it work?

Theme 3. The types and status of water supply resources available in the village.

3.1 What type of water services does the municipality provide to the community of Mukondeni village?

3.2 How often does the municipality supply water to the villagers?

3.3. What should be done to improve water supply in the villages?

Theme 4. Challenges or problems experienced by the authority in ensuring consistent water supply to the village.

4.1. What are the main problems the Municipality faced in the different villages of Mutale in terms of water supply?

4.2. How are the problems addressed?

4.3. What is the role of the village authorities in addressing the problems?

4.4. Is there anything that the municipality officials of councillors should do in order to reduce or eliminate the problem of poor water supply?

Appendix B

QUESTIONNAIRES TO MUNICIPALITY COUNCILLORS AND WORKERS

Demographic information:

Gender of the respondent:

Occupation of the respondent:

Level of education:

Age of the respondent:

Marital status of the respondent:

Period of working in water section or municipality:

Type or status of employment:

Theme 1: The authorities responsible for water services delivery in Mukondeni village, Mutale Local Municipality.

1. Who is responsible for water services delivery in Mutale Local Municipality?

2. Are the responsible worker(s) doing enough to make sure that water is always available to all areas?

3. Does the municipality provide sufficient support in supplying water to Mukondeni village?

4. What are the monitoring measures for the authorities who are responsible for water services provision?

Theme 2: The competency of the authority in making water available to the village.

1. What kind of planning on the part of the municipality which can bring the effectiveness of water services delivery?

2. Does the municipality received compliance from the community about water services delivery? And how do they respond on them?

3. Are the community satisfied with the water services supply?

4. Does the municipality have any maintenance schedule on water service delivery? If yes how it works?

Theme 3: The types and status of water supply resources available in the village

3.1 What type of water services does the municipality provide to the community of Mukondeni village?

3.2 How often does the municipality supply water to Mukondeni village?

3.3. What should be done to improve water supply in the village?

Theme 4: Challenges or problems experienced by the authority in ensuring consistent water supply to the village.

4.1. What are the main problems that the municipality faces with regard to water supply in Mukondeni village?

4.2. How are the problems addressed?

4.3. What is the role of the village authorities in addressing the problems?

4.4. Is there anything the municipality officials or councillors should do, in order to reduce or eliminate the poor water supply?


University of Limpopo Private Bag X1106, Sovenga, 0727, South Africa Tel: (015) 268 3074, Fax: (015) 268 3523, Email:Lidzani.netshipale@ul.ac.za

QUESTIONNAIRE

TO: Mukondeni Local Authority

FROM: Mr LL Netshipale

I am Mr Lidzani Lucas Netshipale, a resident of Mukondeni village. I am a student at the University of Limpopo, Turfloop Graduate School of Leadership (TGSL). I am researching on Water Service delivery in Mukondeni village of Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe District located in Limpopo

I am requesting your permission as Head of the Community/ Traditional Leader of Mukondeni village (Chief) to conduct the study. The study process involves conducting interviews about water services delivery in the village.

Thanking you in advance

Contacts :(015) 268 3074 Cell number: 0723129665

LL Netshipale Signature: pole

Date: 25/03/2015

Head of Department (HOD) 0735383811 Signature:

Finding solutions for Africa

SIGN:

UNIVERSITY OF LIMPOPO TURFLOOP GRADUATE ISCHOOL OF LEADERSHIP

015 -03- 26

Spano SCHOOL ADMINISTRATOR

MUTALE MUNICIPALITY

NEW MUNICIPAL OFFICE BUILDING NEXT OLD MANENU BATTALION MUTALE TOWN 0054



PRIVATE BAG X1254 MUTALE

0956

TEL: 027-15-967 9600 FAX: 027-15-967 9677

1 3 -04- 2015

PRIVATE BAG X1254 MUTALE 0050

TEL: 015 967 9600

A DEVELOPMENTAL MUNICIPALITY THAT ENSURES SUSTAINABLE, ECONOMIC GROWTH AND EQUITABLE SERVICE DELIVERY

Ref: 5/2/2 Enq: Netshikovhela F. Date: 10 April 2015

Dear Netshipale L.L

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR CONDUCTING RESEARCH AT MUTALE MUNICIPALITY.

The above matter refers

Your request for conducting an academic research within Mutale Municipality is hereby approved.

Our request is that upon completion of your research we will appreciate being favoured with a copy as we hope its recommendation will be of great importance to us in planning for future sustainable community service delivery

While your main support may be managers Technical and Corporate Services we will appreciate working through the office of the Municipal Manager for coordination.

Looking forward to a fruitful interaction.

Mamerlew

Municipal Manager

2015704/13 Date



University of Limpopo Private Bag X1106, Sovenga, 0727, South Africa Tel: (015) 268 3074, Fax: (015) 268 3523, Email:Lidzani.netshipale@ul.ac.za

Mutale Local Municipality Private Bag X 1254 Mutale 0956

DATE: 27 March 2015

Dear Municipal Manager

SUBJECT: REQUEST FOR CONDUCTING RESEARCH AT MUTALE LOCAL MUNICIPALITY

My name is Netshipale Lidzani Lucas. I am a resident of Mukondeni village (Thegwe Tribal Authority) and I am currently working at the University of Limpopo as a Junior Lecturer. As a gesture to further my studies I registered for Masters in Development Studies (Student number 201015557) in 2014 with the purpose of conducting research with the topic "Water services delivery in Mukondeni village of Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe District Municipality of the Limpopo Province". As a resident of Mukondeni village, the motivation for doing the study was out of personal observation pertaining to water service delivery problems in Mutale Local Municipality. With this background, this letter serves as a request for permission to conduct research in Mukondeni villages and Mutale Local Municipality.

For any enquiry please contact me on the contacts below

Thanking you in advance

Contacts: 015 268 3074 Cell number: 0723129665 🔸

Yours faithfully Mr. LL Netshipale

Date 25/03/205A-

UNIVERSITY C LIMPOPO TURFLOOP GRADUATE

ADMINISTRATOR

290HOOL OF LEADERSHIP

enau

HOD: Masters of Development Studies: Prof G Makombe: 0735383811 Signature:

PPC.

SIGN:

SCHOOL



INTERNAL MEMO

To whom it may concern

From:	Dr SA Rankoana
	HOD: Department of Sociology & Anthropology Supervisor of Mr L.L. Netshipale
Date:	26 March 2015

Subject:

Proof of Data Collection Process

I am the supervisor of Mr L.L. Netshipale, student number 201015557. The student is enrolled for Masters in Developmental Studies with TGSL. The proposed study title is **Water services delivery in Mukondeni village in Mutale Local Municipality in Vhembe District Municipality of the Limpopo.**

The research proposal is approved by TGSL Higher Degrees Committee. The student is ready to collect data in Mukondeni Village and Mutale Local Municipality. Data collection process is planned for 30th-31st March and 1st -24th April 2015.

Kind regards

Dr SA Rankoan

Finding solutions for Africa



University of Limpopo Department of Languages Private Bag X1106, Sovenga, 0727, South Africa Tel: (015) 268 3199, Fax: (015) 267 2868, Email:Lukas.Mkuti@ul.ac.za

19 August 2015

TO WHOM IT MAY CONCERN

Re: LANGUAGE EDITING LETTER - MR L.L. NETSHIPALE

This letter serves as proof that I edited research work of Mr L.L. Netshipale (201015557) entitled "WATER SERVICES DELIVERY IN MUKONDENI VILLAGE IN MUTALE LOCAL MUNICIPALITY IN VHEMBE DISTRICT MUNICIPALITY OF LIMPOPO PROVINCE".

Yours faithfully

DR ¥.D. MKUTI DEPARTMENT OF LANGUAGES

	T LIMPOPO
F	UNIVERSITY OF LIMIT C.
	HCAD OF DEPARTMENT
	DEPARTMENT OF LANGUAGES
ł	PRIVATE BAG X1106 SOVENGA 0721

Finding solutions for Africa